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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM") OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due
and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market
more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Intcera High Tech Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to Intcera High Tech
Group Limited. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and
belief (1) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading:
(2) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading: and (3) all
opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and
assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FE®RE

RESUMPTION OF TRADING

Trading in the shares of the Company has been resumpted since 3
April 2008.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal business of the Group, which requires substantial
technology updates, will continue and may expand subject to the
funding requirement of the potential expansion. The Group has
achieved a significant improvement in business since 2006. The
Directors believe that this is the result of proactive business and
operation expansion plan implemented by the Group by way of
acquiring the equipment and businesses from Shenzhen Weiyi
Optical Communication Technology Company Limited.

The 2008 annual results showed a turnover of approximately
HK$78.6 million for the financial year ended 31 December 2008,
which represented approximately 49% growth of the turnover of
2007. Gross profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2008
of approximately HK$19.0 million. The increase in turnover was the
result of new customer development and the future sales plan will
continue to diversify our products.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FE®RE

FUND RAISING

The Company entered into of a share subscription agreement with
a subscriber in September 2007 and a placing agreement with
a placing agent simultaneously. In October 2007, the Company
entered into a second placing agreement with the placing agent.
In December 2007, the Company announced the rights issue to
existing shareholders. Details please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 24 September 2007, 26 October 2007,
18 December 2007, 27 February 2008 and a circular dated 29
February 2008 respectively. All ordinary resolutions approving
subscription shares, placings shares, rights shares, bonus shares and
issue of remuneration shares were duly passed by the shareholders,
all by way of poll at the extra-ordinary general meeting held on
18 March 2008. Details please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 18 March 2008.

OUTLOOK

On 9 January 2009, the Company entered into the Sale and
Purchase Agreement to acquire 10% of the issued share capital
of Info-Source Media Limited (“Info-Source”), which is beneficially
owned by Guangdong Postal.

The consideration for the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares of
HK$28.8 million shall be satisfied in full by the allotment and issue
of 360,000,000 the Consideration Shares at the Issue Price of
HK$0.08 per Share.

The acquisition was completed on 3 February 2009.

6 High Tech Group Limited | Annual Report 2008

ERES

ARABERZZEZTLFNAERBEATLRD
RERZE CRANEREREBEIIVREER®-
RZZTZTLF+ A ARAHEREEREILE
THEEHE -NZEELF+ A ARQRMA
REBRRRAMEREIE -FHFLHEARQFA
HOoRNA—EELtFNA-t+HA -—ZTF+
FTAZ+RB ZEZEEF+A+TNABEK
TEEN\F A+ +tBZ2AMUARHEBRAES
TENFAZ+thBZBRH- -FIEIERE
B~ BRERR D ~ AR AR (D ~ AT AR DA R BE 1T B
Bz EBRAZROERER=_ZZN\F=A
TNABRITZREFIIARE EURERIT
FXBB -FEBL2HEARABHAZTEN
F=RA+N Bz

Ea

Al =

RZBZNF—-ANB KRB LEE R
WERERBRESHEE 2 EREEERAA
(MER])BEIT/RA10% -

BEEFERMD 2R EBE28,800,0007T i LARS
%% 12 #£17360,000,0000% B A% 170 2 B L A
f% 35178 A 75 ¥50.087T

WEEBER -_ZEZNF-_A=ZH%xK-



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FE®RE

Info-Source is principally engaged in the provision of state-of-the-
art E-commerce platform through Guangdong Postal’s powerful
physical network, sophisticated information network and strong
post bank capital support with a broad portfolio of media
advertising platforms including bank location network, in-store
network, post outlets network, commercial location network, direct
mail network, magazine distribution network, wireless and outdoor
light-emitting diode (LED) monitor network.

On 4 March 2009, the Company entered into a memorandum of
understanding (“MOU") with Info-Source. The MOU assigned the
responsibilities of the Company and Info-Source. Info-Source will
develop and support the Company with an effective e-commerce
platform whereas the Company will identity potential clients
interested in using e-commerce platform.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our gratitude to our shareholders of their tremendous
support and to our management and staff to their dedication and
contribution in the past year. One of the Group's key objectives is to
create and increase shareholders’ wealth. To this end, the Group's
focus is, endeavoring its very best, to seek long term growth in
our core business while maintaining stable organic growth in the
industry.

Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph
Chairman

24 March 2009
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DIRECTORS AND SENIORS MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERSAREEREBEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LAU Chi Yuen, Joseph, aged 38, was appointed an executive
director of the Company in April 2008 and a chairman of the
Company in June 2008. Mr. Lau has about 10 years’ experience in
corporate finance transactions and investments, and managerial
position involving listed and non listed companies in Hong Kong.
He obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Administration (Finance)
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1995 and Bachelor of
Electronic Engineering in Computer (Hons) from the City University
of Hong Kong in 1993. He is an executive director and chief
executive officer of China Outdoor Media Group Limited, which is
a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. CHUNG Man Wai, aged 38, was appointed a chief executive
officer of the Company in April 2008 and an executive director
of the Company in October 2008. He holds a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree from the University of Hong
Kong and a Master of Science Degree in Financial Management
from the University of London. Mr. Chung is also a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Prior to joining the Group in August 2007,
Mr. Chung held senior corporate finance and accounting positions
in a listed company and in the New World Group and was an
internal auditor in a financial institution.

Mr. CHENG Qing Bo, aged 46, is an Executive Director of the
Group. He joined the Group in June 2002. Mr. Cheng holds a
master degree in economics from Zhongnan University of Finance
and Economics, and has passed the China United Examination
for Certified Public Accountants. He also obtained the Securities
Practitioner Certificate. Mr. Cheng has over 10 years of experience
in finance, accounting and investment management.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIORS MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

EERSAREEREEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LEE Chung Mong, John, aged 50, is an independent Non-
executive Director of the Group. He joined the Group in April 2008,
obtained Ph.D. Degree in Computer Science from the University
of Minnesota, USA in 1989. In the same year, he was appointed
as Associate, Research Staff in the Institute of Systems Science
at National University of Singapore. In 1999, he was awarded
a Teaching Excellence Appreciation Award by the Dean of the
School of Engineering of The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology and was elevated as a Senior Member of the Institute
of Electrical and Electronics Engineers. He is now the chairman and
chief executive officer of Asia Vision Technology Ltd. He is currently
the independent non-executive director of ThinSoft (Holdings)
Inc., company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. TAM Wing Kin, aged 43, is an independent Non-executive
Director of the Group. He joined the Group in April 2008. He
is an independent non-executive director of Fittec International
Group Limited. He is also a member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also a Certificate Public Accountant (Practising).
Previously, Mr. Tam had worked at one of the leading international
accountancy firms and several listed companies in Hong Kong. He
has over 20 years of experience in accounting field.

Mr. FUNG Chan Man, Alex, aged 46, is an independent Non-
executive Director of the Group. He joined the Group in April
2008, obtained a BSc (Hons) degree in Electrical Engineering from
University of Bath (UK) in 1986 and subsequently and MBA degree
from Heriot Watt University (UK). Mr., Fung has about 15 years
working experience in financial market and corporate finance
activities in both Hong Kong and China. Mr. Fung is currently
registered with the Securities and Futures Commission under Type
6 licence through Innoform Ashfield Capital Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WONG Hon Kit, aged 42, is the Financial Controller as well as
Company Secretary of the Group. He joined the Group in January
2005. Mr. Wong is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong has over 10
years of experience in the accounting field and also possesses
accounting experience in the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWHE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group recorded a total
turnover of approximately HK$78,644,000 representing an increase
of approximately 49% from approximately HK$52,612,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2007. A gross profit of approximately
HK$19,020,000 was recorded by the Group for the year ended
31 December 2008. The loss attributable to shareholders was
approximately HK$24,038,000.

OPERATIONS

During the year under review, the Group has taken effective
measures to control its operating costs. This is the objective of
the Group to adopt stringent cost control and maintain a thin but
effective overhead structure. The Group is optimistic in enjoying a
fruitful harvest and satisfying an anticipated growth of production
capacity in the foreseeable future.

The Board announced that on 30 April 2008, the Company entered
into various CB Redemption Agreements with the respective
Bondholders which are supplemental to the Convertible Bonds
and the Bonds Supplemental Agreements respectively. Under the
CB Redemption Agreements, the Company and the respective
Bondholders agreed that the Company shall early redeem at the
Redemption Consideration the Convertible Bonds on the date of
Completion, by way of (i) cash as to HK$15,000,000 in aggregate
and (ii) issuing in favour of two Bondholders, the Promissory Notes
as to HK$12,400,000 in aggregate, on the date of Completion.

Particulars of the Convertible Bonds had been set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 26 June 2002, the circular dated
16 July 2002, the circular dated 29 February 2008 and the circular
dated 26 May 2008 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had total assets of
approximately HK$166,730,000. At the balance sheet date, the
Group had a sound financial position with cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$26,298,000 and had promissory notes of
approximately HK$12,400,000. The Group has a current ratio of
approximately 2.13 comparing to that of 1.40 as at 31 December
2007. As at 31 December 2008, the Group's gearing ratio of 32%
was calculated at by dividing total debt by the total assets (31
December 2007: 46%).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The business activities of the Group are not exposed to material
fluctuations in exchange rates except the operation through its
subsidiary in Shenzhen, PRC which is subject to fluctuation in
exchange rates between Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2007, the Company's outstanding issued shares
were 723,087,310 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each. During the
year under review, 5,983,087,310 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
were issued. As at 31 December 2008, the Company’s outstanding
issued shares were 6,706,174,620.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investments as at 31
December 2008.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries or affiliated companies for the year ended 31
December 2008.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWHE DM

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had 501 full time employees
compared with that of 315 in 2007. The staff costs, including
directors’ remuneration, were approximately HK$16,739,000
(2007: HK$8,446,000). The Group offers a comprehensive
remuneration package and benefits to its full time employees
in compliance with the regulations in Hong Kong and the
PRC respectively, including medical scheme, provident fund or
retirement fund. In addition, the Group adopts a share option
scheme for eligible employees (including directors) to provide
incentives to participants for their contributions and continuing
efforts to promote the interests of the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2008, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities or charges laid against its assets.

PROSPECTS

The Company will continue to focus and deepen its main business
in manufacturing and trading of ceramic ferrule, fiber optic
connector, fiber optic adapter and patch code respectively. With
Fibra to the home “FTTH” become popular, broadband users
demand faster speed, increasing demand for broadband services,
and the healthy growth of global market, we are optimistic for the
future of this industry.

In the meantime, with the lead of our management team, the
Company is actively searching for business opportunities in asset
and fund management and e-commerce. Whenever, there are
attractive investment opportunities existed, the Company will
expand its arm through strategic acquisition and cooperation.
We strongly believe both our manufacturing, asset and fund
management business and e-commerce will bring fruitful returns
and create additional values to our shareholders in the coming
years.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

The Directors are pleased to submit their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set
out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

As over 99.8% consolidated turnover and trading results of the
Group are derived from the manufacture and sale of ceramic blanks
and ferrules, an analysis of the consolidated trading results of the
Group by business segments is not presented.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business
segments is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CHANGE OF NAME

At an annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company will
be held on 27 April 2009, a special resolution to change the name
of the Company from Intcera High Tech Group Limited to China
Post E-Commerce (Holdings) Limited and adopt the new Chinese

name ‘:Pﬂﬁ_ﬁm (3ER) BRAE" to replace "AMEEZ RN &
EER AR
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 38 to 40 of this annual
report.

No interim dividend was paid during the year (2007: Nil). The
directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007: Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital and share options of the Company are set
out in notes 27 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.

Pursuant to the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands
and the Articles of Association of the Company, share premium
of the Company is distributable to the shareholders, subject
to a solvency test. At 31 December 2008, in the opinion of
the Directors, the Company'’s reserves available for distribution
to shareholders amount to approximately HK$Nil (2007:
HK$2,290,000), representing the aggregate of share premium
of approximately HK$61,235,000 (2007: HK$61,597,000) and
accumulated losses of approximately HK$84,291,000 (2007:
HK$59,307,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

IR A
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#84,291,0007T (= ZF 4 : #%59,307,000
JT) °
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

There are no charitable and other donations made by the Group
during the year (2007: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

STAFF RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Details of staff retirement benefits are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS AND PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at Balance Sheet Date, the Group had neither bank borrowings
nor assets pledged to fund/loan providers.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year and subsequently were:
Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph
Mr. Chung Man Wai

Mr. Cheng Qing Bo

Mr. Tung Tai Yung

Ms. Li Fang

(appointed on 30 April 2008)
(appointed on 22 October 2008)

(resigned on 29 October 2008)
(resigned on 7 May 2008)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lin Nan (resigned on 7 May 2008)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Zheng Hao

Mr. Lam Williamson

Ms. Mak Wai Fong

Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John
Mr. Tam Wing Kin

Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex

(resigned on 7 May 2008)
(resigned on 7 May 2008)
(resigned on 7 May 2008)
(appointed on 30 April 2008)
(appointed on 30 April 2008)
(appointed on 30 April 2008)

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles, Mr. Lau Chi Yuen
Joseph, Mr. Chung Man Wai, Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John, Mr.
Tam Wing Kin and Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex, all being Directors
appointed as an addition to the existing Board since the last annual
general meeting of the Company, shall hold office only until the
Annual General Meeting. In accordance with article 84(1) of the
Articles, Mr. Cheng Qing Bo shall retire by rotation at the Annual
General Meeting. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than normal statutory obligations.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other statutory compensation.

The Board confirmed that the Company has received, from each of
the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on Growth Enterprise Market (the “"GEM
Listing Rules”). The Company considers that they are independent
under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Except for the transactions as disclosed in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements, no contracts of significance in
relation to the Group'’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which any directors of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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EERFETHRAEBRKRG -HBARGK
BRER 2B

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTEREST IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2008, the interests and short position of R_ZEZENF+_A=+—H EZFNARQF
TEITHABEARD A KL EAAREE (2
HRABF LB ([FBH5REEED]) EXV
) 2 17 - FEBRR D R B A A
RATIBIEBLERAE G EINEEREE Y
B2 R RAR IR AR LA

the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the  Z55.46Z5.67{KFTil AR AR ERHETEE 247
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of dealings by — EIREE A& AR 7) KB BT 2 MoK B 1l
Directors of the Company as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the | :
GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
(i) Long positions in Shares () REGZHFE
Approximate
percentage of

Number of Type of issued share
Name of Directors Shares Capacity Interest capital (%)
HEBITRAE
EsnE R&OBE 280 EEME BMABEDL(%)
(Note 3)
(Ht5E3)
Mr. Lau Chi Yuen, 3,542,000,000 Interest of a controlled Corporate 52.82
Joseph (“Mr. Lau”) (Note 1) corporation NE]
2ERESE (Biat1) RESIRE#ER
(TRI5%&4&])
Mr. Cheng Qing Bo 369,600,000 Interest of a controlled Corporate 5.51
("Mr. Cheng”) (Note 2) corporation NE]
BB R (Hfetz)  ZEHRAF#ER
(TR D)
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Notes: Kt -

1. These shares are held by JL Investment Capital Limited, which 1. ZERHBEIEEZERE ZIL Investment
is wholly owned by Mr. Lau. Mr. Lau is therefore deemed to be Capital Limited#75 - B2 £ RSB L
interested in the shares held by JL Investment Capital Limited. Investment Capital Limited BT #5 A% 17 2 # 23 °

2. These shares are held by Bright Castle Investments Limited, which is 2. HERMBEMKSTESEYA ZBright Castle
wholly owned by Mr. Cheng. Mr. Cheng is therefore deemed to be Investments Limited#5 5 - B LA SE R A
interested in the shares held by Bright Castle Investments Limited. #E A Bright Castle Investments Limited 743 i%

D2

3. The percentage of issued share capital had been arrived at on the 3. BEEORAZEALDNER=ZTZNF+=
basis of a total of 6,706,174,620 Shares in issue as at 31 December A=+—H16,706,174,6200% 2 31T I {5 2
2008. EEGHE-

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, none of the KR EXHEZEEIN RZTZEN\FF+_A=+—
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests H ' &EEH AR T T ETHAEHELERARD
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures &) sk E T AE (T & B&EHF M EEEH
of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the — ZEXVE[) TR - AR D S EEEF  #E
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required B 52 AR R R BB IE 75 75 & B9 & 150 55352 1%
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or HTEZEiz#EmIAR KB EAI R £
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange T8 BIIZ55.46%5.671KE ME AN A &) KA
pursuant to Rule 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. ZIERIOKE ©
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(i) RERBBRAITLETAZHBRG ZIHFE

(i) Long positions in underlying Shares of equity derivatives

(iii)

of the Company

Number of Approximate
Name of Director/ Description underlying percentage
Ex-director Types of interests  of securities shares of interests
ihER
B AIESHE EamtE HEFE HEROH A BMAOBEDL
Mr. Chung Man Wai Beneficial Share Option (Note) 67,060,000 1.00%
("Mr. Chung”)
BXEEE =it BAE (A1)
(T84 1)
Mr. Tung Tai Yung Beneficial Share Option (Note) 67,060,000 1.00%
("Mr. Tung”)
EXRELRAE i RERRHE (Hat)
(T&%4E])
Note: Biat -

On 30 May 2008, Mr. Tung and Mr. Chung have been granted
67,060,000 share option under the existing share option scheme adopted
in compliance with Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules which carry
rights to subscribe for 67,060,000 new Shares at current exercise price of
HK0.092 per Share. Mr. Chung was appointed as executive director of the
Company on 22 October 2008. Mr. Tung resigned as executive director of
the Company on 29 October 2008.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, none of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their
respective spouses or children under 18 years of age had any
right to subscribe for the Shares or any share of its associated
corporations.

Short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of
equity derivatives of the Company

Saved as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2008, none of
the Directors had short positions in Shares or underlying Shares
of equity derivatives of the Company.

RZZENFRA=1TH EXERELESRE
BRAIER EMARRE23ERA IV EHERET
#17$%67,060,00017 B A4 - IR UL - R E A IR
B 77 {6 {8 5 A% 75 #50.092 7T 72 #867,060,000/% 37 %
B BEERZTZN\F+AZ+_BEZTAE
ARRTEZ -EXRAN_EENFE+HA-TIE
BIARARIZHITES-

BREXFEEEN R_FFNEFE+A
=T —H BEFEHARAEBITHRAR
FREFEE B ZRBHI8IAT 2 F I &
BA A A R s AR EOEE 2 1
Bedn 2 #ERI ©

(iii) RERBRALTE T REZ KRG RIEER G

ZHKE

BRANHEEEN RZTZZNE+ A
=t B BEEHERARE ZBAIT
ETEBARD KARBEARD KR
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Substantial shareholders interests and short positions in FTERRAROREBROZEZRAR
shares and underlying shares

As at 31 December 2008, other than the interests of a Directoror R_ZEEN\F+_A=+—HB BLEX[EEK
chief executive of the Company as disclosed under the heading FZ1TERABRKMD - HEKRD M E#EEZ#E
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests in shares, underlying % | —&i 0 5E 2 & F s AR RITTEAAE RSO -
shares and debentures” above, the interests and short positions LA T ALTRARRQ RN LIEER O F#EE S
of persons in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as A AR RIRIEE 5 M IS 150 F33615BFE
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under ~ Z & flt 2z KAk R -

Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

(i) Long positions in Shares () RROZIFE
Approximate
percentage of
issued share
Name of Shareholder Number of Shares Capacity capital (%)
HEBITRAE
RERERB RH & E 20 BRBE DL (%)
(Note 3)
(Ht5E3)
JL Investment Capital Limited 3,542,000,000 Corporate 52.82%
(Note 1) NE]
(Htet1)
Bright Castle Investments Limited 369,600,000 Corporate 551%
(Note 2) NE]
(Htet2)
Somerley Group Limited 369,519,912 Corporate 5.51%
NS
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Notes:
1. see Note 1 on page 19
2. see Note 2 on page 19

3. see Note 3 on page 19

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, the
Directors of the Company were not aware of any other person
(other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RIGHT TO
SUBSCRIBE FOR EQUITY OR DEBT SECURITIES

Share options are granted to the Directors under the 2008 Share
Option Scheme. Please refer to details under the paragraph headed
“Share option scheme” above.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31
December 2008 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

Kiat -
1. AE19EH W
2. REB19EME2

3. RE19BEKS3

BREXFEEEN R_FFENEF+-A
=t B ARREFE T AT EM
AL (BEERARAEZEZTHRAERIN R
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RAMRIEE S LB GRHIE3361KBFE
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year and up to the date of this report, no connected
transactions were entered into between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and a connected person as defined under the GEM
Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at
the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Details of the events after the balance sheet date are set out in note
38 to the financial statements.

REARBEARRSE BH - AR E)SCEERAM
BArRERAREAL (EERAER LR
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s turnover and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers during the
financial year is as follows:

The largest customer BARP

Five largest customers in aggregate AAREP &
The largest supplier BAHER

Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR ST

At no time during the year have the Directors, their respective
associates and any Shareholder (who to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company) had any interest in any of the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of, as at 31 December 2008, any
business or interest of each Director, substantial shareholder and
management shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and
their respective associates that competes or may compete with the
business of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any
such person has or may have with the Group.

TERFRHER
APRFEAREZTEREFPRHRERHELZ
EERBENMRBRERNT

Percentage of
the Group’s total

EAEERAE2ADL
Turnover Purchases
7% -
30% -
- 12%
- 37%

REREARRE AAFES RESB2HE
AL REBREEMAEGBRS % AR FE
TRz R ER A RBEEFTAREFS R
FER R IR (T

BFE MRS

R-ZENF+_A=+—HB BFLTME
FEEE FERFREEERE (E&EFAIER
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M PARBEMZEATERAEERFESAET
TEEE A A 2 5e

24 High Tech Group Limited | Annual Report 2008



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance for the Company. During the year, the Company is in
compliance with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
"CG Code") as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules
except provisions A.4.1 of the CG Code as detailed below:

Code Provision A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. The current independent non-executive Directors are not
appointed for specific terms, but are subject to retirement and re-
election.

The current practices of the corporate governance of the Company
will be reviewed and updated in a timely manner in order to comply
with the requirements of the CG Code.

AUDITORS

The Company'’s financial statements for the two years ended 31
December 2007 were audited by Patrick Ng & Company.

The Company financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2008 were audited by W.H. Tang & Partners CPA Limited who
retire and offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2009
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance for the Company. During the year, the Company is in
compliance with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
"CG Code") as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules
except provisions A.4.1 of the CG Code as detailed below:

Code Provision A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. The current independent non-executive Directors are not
appointed for specific terms, but are subject to retirement and re-
election.

The current practices of the corporate governance of the Company
will be reviewed and updated in a timely manner in order to comply
with the requirements of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements for directors’
securities transactions stated in the GEM Listing Rules. All the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
requirements as set out in the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended
31 December 2008.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD MEETING

The Board comprises six members and their positions, as at the date
of this report, are as follows:

Executive Directors

Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph (Chairman)

Chung Man Wai (Chief Executive Officer)
Cheng Qing Bo

Independent Non-executive Directors
Lee Chung Mong, John

Tam Wing Kin

Fung Chan Man, Alex

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of the Directors are
set out in the section of “Directors and Seniors Management's
Biographies” on pages 8 to 9 of the annual report for year ended
31 December 2008 (the “Annual Report”). All Directors bona fide
have exercised due care, fiduciary duties to all the significant issues
of the financial, operational, compliance and risk management
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”).
Each Executive Director has accumulated sufficient and valuable
experience to hold his position in order to ensure that his fiduciary
duties have been carried out in an efficient and effective manner.
None of the members of the Board have, in any respect, related to
each other in any circumstances.

ESEREEEER

RASRERR EFEgm A NUESMAR HKE
MBI

BITES

ER(ZE)
EXR (7T AR
IR K

BAFHTES
FHK

e P

//%&X

FREE A MBRABHNEEZE_ZTZEN
FTA=T—BUEFEFH([FHR])FE’E
Z2FEIB [EENSETEERRE] —fH 2BE
EEEHMBITAG 2R EEMT WAEER
FEHEIAARIRENBE AR (5 [RER])
EHE 2E aRMEREESIEAMEEEZR
BB TEFHRRATHEERE 2 K8BIE
EHBK THREREXEEEFUERET &
ERSEMES EFEINEEEMBERLTE
HMESRIL 2 R EREE

BENBEEBERAE | —2EN\FEH N



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SEEABE

The Board held a full board meeting for 38 times for the financial
year of 2008. Details of the attendance of the Board members are
as follows:

EZeR T/ \MBFEEAMBAEEE
- BREFENB ZHEREFEN

& @ E
= = K

T

Executive Directors HITES Attendance
H RS
Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph (appointed on 30 April 2008) ZIEER (R_ZEZN\FUA=+HEZT) 27/38
Chung Man Wai (appointed on 22 October 2008) BEXE(R_ZEZN\F+AZTAEZE) 6/38
Cheng Qing Bo P& 8/38
Li Fang (resigned on 7 May 2008) F2F(RZZET N\FHALHET) 3/38
Tung Tai Yung (resigned on 29 October 2008) EAB(RZZEZENFTAZTLHET) 32/38
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Liu Zheng Hao (resigned on 7 May 2008) BEE(RZZEZENFHACRABHIT) 2/38
Lam Williamson (resigned on 7 May 2008) mEE (RSN \ERAT+HEMT) 2/38
Mak Wai Fong (resigned on 7 May 2008) BEF (RZZEZ/N\FRALBET) 2/38
Lee Chung Mong, John (appointed on 30 April 2008) Z&HX (R-_TZENFHA=+HEZT) 3/38
Tam Wing Kin (appointed on 30 April 2008) BER(RZZEZN\FOA=THEZE) 3/38
Fung Chan Man, Alex (appointed on 30 April 2008) BEX (R_ZTZENFHA=+HEZT) 3/38

Save for the above regular board meetings held for the financial
year of 2008, the Board will commit to hold special meetings to
discuss on any matters which would require a decision from them.
Directors will be given opportunity, if necessary, to include matters
in the agenda for regular board meetings. In respect of regular
board meeting, an agenda would be sent in full to all Directors in a
timely manner. Notices of board meeting and details of its agenda
would be delivered in advance to the Board. Minutes of each board
meeting would be sent to the Directors within reasonable time
interval after the meeting.

All Directors are entitled to have full access to the relevant
information from management in a timely manner to enable them
to make informed decisions.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

In order to protect the interest of the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”), the Company appointed three Independent
Non-executive Directors with relevant and sufficient experience and
qualification to perform their duties. The three Independent Non-
executive Directors declared and confirmed with the Company
on an annual basis of their independency with the Group in
accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board has
assessed and concluded that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent in appearance and in substance in view
of the definition of the GEM Listing Rules. The Independent Non-
executive Directors do not hold any office with any connected
parties of the Company or have any financial interests other than
those directors’ remuneration as disclosed in the Report of the
Directors from page 13 to page 25.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND RETIREMENT

Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive Directors
were not appointed for specific terms, subject to re-election. Every
Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

The newly appointed Directors — Mr. Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph, Mr.
Chung Man Wai, Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John, Mr. Tam Wing Kin and
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex received a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure
that he has a proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his responsibilities
under statute and common law, the GEM Listing Rules, and other
regulations.

On 7 May 2008, Ms. Li Fang resigned as Executive Director. Ms. Li
resigned as she needs time to pursue her career and the Board did
not aware of any issue which could affect her office continuity.
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On 7 May 2008, Mr. Lin Nan resigned as Non-executive Director.
Mr. Lin resigned because he needs time to pursue his career and
the Board did not aware of any issue which could affect his office
continuity.

On 7 May 2008, Ms. Mak Wai Fong, Mr. Lam Williamson and Mr.
Liu Zheng Hao resigned as Independent Non-executive Director. Ms.
Mak, Mr. Lam and Mr. Liu resigned as she/he needs time to pursue
her/his career and the Board did not aware of any issue which could
affect her/his office continuity.

On 29 October 2008, Mr. Tung Tai Yung resigned as Executive
Director. Mr. Tung resigned as he needs time to pursue his career
and the Board did not aware of any issue which could affect his
office continuity.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Code A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Prior to 3 June 2008, the
chairman of the board was Mr. Cheng Qing Bo. Mr. Lau Chi Yuen,
Joseph was appointed as the chairman of the board on 3 June
2008. Mr. Chung Man Wai was appointed as chief executive officer
on 7 April 2008. After the appointment of Mr. Chung Man Wai as
chief executive officer, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer are separate and not be performed by the same individual.
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE FHZEES

The Company established Compensation Committee with specific ~ANARIBKZEHMEE T - WIZAIER ETRE
written terms of reference which deal clearly with its authority and £ ) BH H B A8 B i 80 [ LB 12 I 8 EL B4 o
duties in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date RAREBH HFMEZE e B ERLHBILIF
of this report, the Compensation Committee comprises a majority HITEF 2K 8 °

members of Independent Non-executive Directors.

Members of Compensation Committee are on follows:— FHMEZEEG KRBT —

Committee members ZES8RE

Executive Director HITESE

Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph (appointed on 30 April 2008) BRE(RZZEZE/\FOA=THEZT)

Cheng Qing Bo B R

Independent Non-executive Directors BUHBITESE

Lee Chung Mong, John (appointed on 30 April 2008) FHEK(RZZEZTN\EFUA=THEZT)

Tam Wing Kin (appointed on 30 April 2008) BRE(RZZEZN\FHA=THEZEE)

Fung Chan Man, Alex (appointed on 30 April 2008) BREX(R_ZEZN\FNA=THEZE)

The Compensation Committee has been held for once during $ﬁ@ﬂ§/§\"\ﬁ/\_’g%§)\ﬁﬁﬂ($f§§ﬁ REg

the financial year of 2008. Details of the attendance of the - AEFMEZESSH 2K E HERNKFE

Compensation Committee meeting are as follows: ZZH—F :

Committee members ZEERE Attendance
HERE

Executive Director # /_5% =

Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph (appointed on 30 April 2008) ZIBix (R-_ZZN\FMNA=+HEZT) 11

Cheng Qing Bo P& B 0/1

Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE

Lam Williamson (resigned on 7 May 2008) MeEE (R N\FERA+HET) 0/0

Mak Wai Fong (resigned on 7 May 2008) BEF (RZZEZENFHALHEIT) 0/0

Lee Chung Mong, John (appointed on 30 April 2008) Z&HX (R-_ZEZN\FNUA=+HEZT) 11

Tam Wing Kin (appointed on 30 April 2008) BRE(R_ZEZN\FHA=THEZE) 171

Fung Chan Man, Alex (appointed on 30 April 2008) BEX (R -_ZZN\FNA=1+HEZT) 11
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The Compensation Committee proposed to the chairman
relating to the remuneration of other executive directors. The
Compensation Committee also recommended to the Board on the
Company's policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on such remuneration.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference to review the structure, size and composition of
the Board, identifying individuals suitable and qualified to become
Board members and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the election of, individuals nominated for directorship.
The nomination committee comprises at least three members, the
majority of whom shall be independent non-executive Directors.
The current members of the nomination committee are Mr. Lau Chi
Yuen, Joseph, Mr. Cheng Qing Bo, Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John, Mr.
Tam Wing Kin and Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex.

FINANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established a finance committee with written terms
of reference to review and approve banking facilities to be granted
or issued by the Company, provision of corporate guarantees by
the Company for its subsidiaries and opening of bank or securities
related accounts. The finance committee comprises at least three
members. The current members of the finance committee are Mr.
Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph, Mr. Cheng Qing Bo, Dr. Lee Chung Mong,
John, Mr. Tam Wing Kin and Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE EZEEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit ZARAREKRUEZZES ([EZEEE]) - F
Committee”). The primary duties of the Audit Committee is to #%ZEB @ T BHEATKEANRZEREE
communicate with the management of the Company from timeto A E/B& BEEFEREHN AR ER S
time, including but not limited to review the accounting principles &1 /&R Bl & B Il « A EBEEIE R4 2 A UA AR A
and practices adopted by the Company, the effectiveness of its AIFEINFEEE I FZEZESTEES
internal control systems, the interim and annual results of the EINEZEZZT BEENFRESEE UK
Company. The Audit Committee is also responsible for considering 48 7 MNIE 4% BrAD3#E 1T LA SEAZ B RIS ST 3B
the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external [z &%

auditors and reviewing the impairment to its independency with

any non-audit services performed by the external auditors.

As at the date of this report, members of Audit Committee, which WA E B BEREZESREE L AB I
are all Independent Non-executive Directors, are as follows: HITES EKEBRE:

Lee Chung Mong, John (appointed on 30 April 2008) FHEEX(RZZEZN\FUA=THEZT)
Tam Wing Kin (appointed on 30 April 2008) BERE(RZEZN\FHA=THEZE)
Fung Chan Man, Alex (appointed on 30 April 2008) HBREX(RZZEENFUA=THEZT)
The Audit Committee held five meetings during the financial BERZEER - ZTT/\BHREEERITARE

year of 2008. Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee 3% ° ﬁ%ﬁ%’fﬁ?%%‘@ R KB E IR |E

meetings are as follows: U
Committee members ZES8RE Attendance
HE RS
Liu Zheng Hao (resigned on 7 May 2008) EE (RZEENFHALHEE) 0/0
Lam Williamson (resigned on 7 May 2008) M"\’m (RZZEZEN\FHALHEE) 0/0
Mak Wai Fong (resigned on 7 May 2008) EEF (RZZEZENFHALABT) 0/0
Lee Chung Mong, John (appointed 30 April 2008) FHX(RZZEZENFOA=1THEZEE) 5/5
Tam Wing Kin (appointed 30 April 2008) EEE (RZEZTN\FOA=THEZTE) 5/5
Fung Chan Man, Alex (appointed 30 April 2008) BREX (RZEZEN\FHA=THEZT) 5/5
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The Company’s unaudited first quarterly results for the three
months ended 31 March 2008, interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2008, third quarterly results for the nine months
ended 30 September 2008 and audited annual results for the
financial year ended 31 December 2008 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation
of such results have been complied with the applicable accounting
standards.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the total fee paid/
payable in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the
Company's external auditors is set out below:

Types of services AR 712 4R
Audit services E R
Non-audit services IEBFIZARTE

Total HAET

INTERNAL CONTROL REVIEW AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Proper internal controls not only facilitate the effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, ensuring compliance with laws
and regulations, but most importantly, it helps to manage risk
exposure of the Company. The Company is committed to the risk
identification, risk assessment, evaluation of internal control system
and monitoring of remediation plan to control deficiencies. The
Audit Committee has met with the management of the Company
on a regular basis to review the existing internal control practice.

ARABBE-_TTNF=ZA=+—HIL=EH
IARBRERFE —FEE BE_TZTN\FAA
ZtTEERNEAZFHEE #BE_TTN\F
NAZTBENEAZE=FRERBE_F
ENF+ A=+ —BULYRFEZLEEZF
ERECRERZE %F‘ﬁ BEREREERR
PG ERER SRR MmE -

BB &

RBE_ZZTN\F+_A=1T—BLEFE 3

ARRIMNEZHBERRBZLIFBERE ZE
/NS @ERImT

2008 2007

—EEN\F —EELHF

HK$'000 HK$°000

BEFIT JBETFIT

500 550

- 780

500 1,330
ERRANEZRERERE

RENZ & 2 A BB SR AR i T & R] MR RSB 1

KRR FER BT IERIOER RERE A
Eﬂ$/‘ﬁ¢§f§)ﬁﬁ%ﬁ?—*‘2ﬂﬁ°$“‘7ﬁ(7ﬁ)¥%§ﬂ%
B~ B U DA S RS N BREEAE R 4 - RIRS R
ﬁHLM BB T Al 2 G E - ERERBE
EEHEARREEEAESH UEHRE
ZNEBEE IR AR -

34 High Tech Group Limited | Annual Report 2008



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEEABE

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
ACCOUNTS

The board is responsible for presenting a clear, balanced assessment
of the Group’s performance and prospects. It is also responsible
for preparing financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the Group's financial position on a going-concern basis and
other pricesensitive announcements and financial disclosures.
Management provides the board with the relevant information it
needs to discharge these responsibilities.

The responsibilities of the auditors to the shareholders are set out in
the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 36 and 37.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant information to
shareholders in a timely manner. Annual and interim reports offers
comprehensive operational and financial performance information
to shareholders and the annual general meeting ("AGM")
provides a forum for shareholders to exchange views directly
with the board. The Company regards the AGM as an important
event and all directors, senior management and external auditor
make an effort to attend the AGM of the Company to address
shareholders’ queries. All the shareholders of the Company are
given a minimum of 21 days’ notice of the date and venue of the
AGM of the Company. The Company supports the Code’s principle
to encourage shareholders’ participation. The Company has also
complied with the requirements concerning voting by poll under
the GEM Listing Rules. Details of the poll voting procedures and
the rights of shareholders to demand a poll included in circulars to
shareholders dispatched by the Company where applicable.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BYZEE®RE

SHERESESESHERAT

Level 7 & 20, Parkview Centre,
7 Lau Li Street,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

FHABERBE LR
BEFOCERE -4

Tel :(852)23426130
Fax :(852) 23426006

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
INTCERA HIGH TECH GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Intcera
High Tech Group Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 38 to 131, which comprise
the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December
2008, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
the report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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W.H. TANG
& PARTNERS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BYZRHBMEE

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2008 and of the Group’s loss and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

W.H. Tang & Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Hong Kong , 24 March 2009

TANG Wai Hung
Practising Certificate Number P03525
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
e W sk

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 _—FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
ok:a BT T BT
Revenue Wz 5 78,644 52,612
Cost of sales SHE A (59,624) (32,118)
Gross profit EF 19,020 20,494
Other revenue H A e 5 105,644 616
Administrative expenses 1TEE A (132,353) (8,813)
Other operating expenses Hie =8 (13,453) (5,263)
(Loss) profit from operations & (E1E ) aF 7 (21,142) 7,034
Finance costs A& KA 8 (853) (1,814)
(Loss) profit before tax B Al (&8 )& A (21,995) 5,220
Income tax expense Fri8iiE 10 (2,251) (5,038)
(Loss) profit for the year FE (E18)=H (24,246) 182
Dividend f% 8 11 - -
Attributable to: JEAf -
Equity holders of the Company RAGIERFEEA (24,038) 182
Minority interests DY R (208) -
(24,246) 182
HK cents HK cents
JE A JE A
(Loss) earnings per share Bk (EBE)&BA 12
Basic AR (0.399) 0.025
Diluted s (0.406) N/A 3 A
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REEERER

As at 31 December 2008 R —ZFEZENF+_-A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Available-for-sale financial assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Due from a related company
Cash and bank balances

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowing — current portion
Trade and other payables
Due to a director

Due to a related company
Tax payable

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible bonds
Borrowing

Deferred tax liabilities

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company
Minority interests

TOTAL EQUITY

FRBEE
UENN VNG g
AL EMBEE

REBEE

3

eI Z Z) Ko E b B 3K
JE U5 B 5& X B RIR
Be RRITER

REBEERME
REBRE
tEE—REE N
1B 5 N B (b iR 3K
RN —REEFHIEA
RS — T REE A R BOR
e IR

RBRERRE
REBEERE
EERERRADAERE

FRBEE
A i {8 55
tBE
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RRBIEDFTA ARG ED

DHE R
A

Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph

28&
Chairman
FE

Notes

i3

13
15

16
18
19
20

21
22
23
24

25
21
26

27
28

2008 2007
—BEN\E  —TTLF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEFT R
85,282 91,759
2,937 146
88,219 91,905
22,850 19,060
28,801 23,584
562 4,521
26,298 37
78,511 47,202
- (1,700)
(18,492) (21,324)
(3,936) (3,295)
(4,457) -
(9,978) (7,326)
(36,863) (33,645)
41,648 13,557
129,867 105,462
= (24,859)
(12,400) -
(3,561) (5,936)
(15,961) (30,795)
113,906 74,667
67,062 7,231
46,802 67,436
113,864 74,667
42 -
113,906 74,667

Chung Man Wai

BXE

Executive Director

K

HITEF
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

AAEERER

As at 31 December 2008 R —-ZEFNF+_-A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiaries
Available-for-sale financial assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from subsidiaries

Trade and other receivables
Due from a related company
Cash and bank balances

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowing-current portion
Trade and other payables
Due to a director

Due to a shareholder

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible bonds
Borrowing

Deferred tax liabilities

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

FRBEE

ERN e
KK AR 2 E
AN ERHEE

REBEE

FE U B B8 1 B R IR
FEUE 5 Ko H b iR K
JE UK B3 1 B FRIR
Be RiR1TERE

REBEERE
B

BE— RBHG
AT E 5 R R ER
RAS— B EBHR
R — %R A
RBAEEE
REEEFE
EELERRDEMN

FREBEE
A RS 75

fEE

ELRIBRE
FRBEEAE
BEEFE

IR A K {4
PR

feé £85

A

Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph

28R

Chairman

E

INTCERA

2008 2007

—EENF —ZETLF

Notes HK$000 HK$ 000
Htat B F T BT T
13 = -
14 = -
15 2,937 -
2,937 -

17 1,152 55,846
18 56,199 9,956
19 562 -
20 26,281 7
84,194 65,809
21 = (1,700)
22 (4,840) (10,185)
23 (6,076) (6,076)
23 (7.000) (7,000)
(17,916) (24,961)

66,278 40,848

69,215 40,848
25 = (24,859)
21 (12,400) -
26 - (978)
(12,400) (25,837)

56,815 15,011

27 67,062 7,231
28 (10,247) 7,780
56,815 15,011

Chung Man Wai
E R

Executive Director

HITEF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BREZSH KRG ®E

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #[ =

At 1 January 2007

Exchange differences arising
on translation of financial
statements outside Hong Kong

Deficit on revaluation of property,
plant and equipment

Deferred tax liability on revaluation
of property, plant and equipment

Net expense recognized
directly in equity

Profit for the year

Total recognised income and
expense for the year

Fair value adjustment on
convertible bonds

Reversal of deferred tax liability on
the convertible bonds

At 31 December 2007 and
at 1 January 2008
Exchange differences arising
on translation of financial
statements outside Hong Kong
Deficit on revaluation of property,
plant and equipment

Deferred tax liability on revaluation
of property, plant and equipment

Net expense recognized
directly in equity

Loss for the year

Total recognised income and
expense for the year

Bonus issue

Placing issue

Right issue

Subscription issue

Remuneration issue

Redemption on convertible bonds

Recognition of equity-settled
share based payments

Capital contribution from
minority shareholder

At 31 December 2008

R-ERLE-f—H
BEERIMMBHBER
FELEXZR

EftN% HRERRE B

Efth% BREREEZ
EERARE

ERRBERD AR

FRER
FRBRZRARAX LR

mERERZ DTESER

BEABRESZ
ERRRER

RoSRLFT=A=t-A
RH=SENF-A-H

REERUMBHBER
fEEELEE

EffN% HREREE B

EfNE BRREEL
EREREER

EEREER IR TE

FEFA
FRRRRARFX R

RK
B
A3
BIRBER
BITRER
FEAARES
ERREREE
DR ZHE
SHBRHE

= =5

ST

R-FENEH=AZT-R

—EE

— ==

NFEFZA=1+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KRRBERAARE
Share  Convertible
Share Share  Translation Revaluation option bonds  Accumulated Minority Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
CEL %

Ba  RGEE  EiRG  EMEE BRERE  ®xRG  ZHER B RREZ  BEREAR
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000
E¥FT  EETT BMTT EETn B¥TT BRKTn BRTT B¥Tn BRTr BETR

7,231 61,597 17 29,700 - 3,888 (28,892) 73,641 - 73,641

- - 646 - - - - 646 - 646
- - - (4,823) - - - (4,823) - (4,823)
- - - 3419 - - - 3419 - 3419
7,231 61,597 763 28,29 - 3,888 (28,892) 72,883 - 72,883
- - - - - - 182 182 - 182
7,231 61,597 763 28,29 - 3,888 (28,710) 73,065 - 73,065
- - - - - 2,029 - 2,029 - 2,029
- - - - - (427) - (427) - (427)
7231 61,597 763 28,296 - 5490 (28,710) 74,667 - 74,667
- - 1,104 - - - - 1,104 - 1,104
- - - (6,054) - - - (6,054) - (6,054)
- - - 1397 - - - 1397 - 1,397
7231 61,597 1,867 23,639 - 5490 (28,710) 71,114 - 114
- - - - - - (24,038) (24,038) (208) (24,246)
7231 61,597 1,867 23,639 - 5490 (52,748) 47,076 (208) 46,368
362 (362) - - - - - - - -
14,580 - - - - - - 14,580 - 14,580
7231 - - - - - - 7231 - 7231
35,420 - - - - - - 35,420 - 35,420
2,38 - - - - - - 2,38 - 2,238
- - - - - (5.490) - (5:490) - (5490)
- - - - 12,809 - - 12,809 - 12,809
- - - - - - - - 250 250
67,062 61,235 1,867 23,639 12,809 - (52,748) 113,864 ] 113,906

In the opinion of the directors, the revaluation reserve, convertible

bonds reserve and share option reserve are not available for

distribution to the Company’s shareholders.

B8 EfNREE - TRBRESFEE N BRE
BTk TARBMRER

BENEEEAERAA | —EB/\FERK
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

GERTMRER

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 _—FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) profit before tax

Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Depreciation and amortization of property,
plant and equipment
Impairment loss on other receivables
Share option expenses
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Gain on redemption on convertible bonds
Interest on convertible bonds written back
Interest on promissory notes written back

Operating profit before changes
in working capital

Increase in inventories

(Increase) decrease in trade and
other receivables

Increase in trade and other payables

Tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets
Net proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary
Increase in due from a director

Decrease in due from a related company

Net cash generated from investing
activities

INTCERA

REER
BB AT (&R ) & A

FLIA N FRE

DN

MEMA

MR- BE RREITE L

H Al & W B OB E B 18
R HE R X
HEME  BFER&RBER

HEWE AR E
BB E S 2 W
18 [0 A 42 B B 75 6B
DAL RIER B

EEESBHANKE RN

FEIE

e E 5 I Bt BR AR
(4% h0) R

FEATE 5 I HoA AR 3K

BENHIE

REXBRARE FHE

REEH

B KA E
BEME BB L&E
BEAHLEVBEE

HE — TR E AR PSR F R
FEY — R EEFIAE N

JiE Y — ] B3 1 B SR IR R

REFHFEREFE

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$ 000
—BB\F -TTtHF
BEFT EETT
(21,995) 5,220
853 1,814
(331) -
18 26
113,101 -
12,809 -
753 -
(99,258) -
(4.383)
(230) (548)
(144) -
1,193 6,512
(3.790) (15,577)
(207,958) 1,511
187,947 245
(139) -
(22,747) (7,309)
331 -
(314) -
(2,937) -
(10) -
- (1,590)
3,959 5,138
1,029 3,548




CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

RERTMRNER

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z - FZENF+-H=+—HIUFZE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issue of shares

Contribution by minority interests

Increase in due to a director

Increase in due to a related company

Loans from non-financial institution
Repayment of loan

Payment on redemption on convertible bonds
Interest paid

Net cash generated from
financing activities

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF THE YEAR

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

BMEEH

BT

LEBRREE

RIS —BEERIAIEN
RAS — B BA & 1~ B FRIRLE AN
M BEHE 2 ER
BEEMN

FR [l AT R AR B 5 2 5ROA
ERHE

BMEEHEREFHE

RERREEEY

Z18m CGmd)
FHAZRERASEEY

SR BT

FRZATRBATEEY

ReERBRESEWERDIW

RBe MRITHER

K

2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$ 000
—BENE  —TTLHE
BEFTT BT T
57,231 -

250 -

1,154 -
4,457 -

- 1,700

(1,700) -
(15,000) -
(23) -
46,369 1,700
24,651 (2,061)

37 1,199

1,610 899
26,298 37
26,298 37




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 _—FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on the The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 39.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars. The functional currency of the Group is mainly
Renminbi (“RMB"). As the Company's shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange, the directors consider that it is appropriate to
present the consolidated financial statements in Hong Kong
dollars.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments and interpretations (“new HKFRSs") issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

("HKICPA") which are or have become effective.

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Reclassification of Financial Assets
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 - Group and Treasury
Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HKAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum

HK(FRIC)-Int 14

Funding Requirements and their
Interaction

—REH

ARRDREEHERMK T EHheE
RAF EBRHREBBARBHERL
A (TBFT)) b e A2 M HE
REBE LI U NAFR[AAE
K] — B -

AR A —MREZRAR L EMES
NE)ZEFEHNMIEE39

REMBERMRABEZY - AEB 26
EBTE/ARE (TARE]) -HRAR
AR B S PT LT B ERRIAEE
2IFEMBHRRIBEE -

FERHIREETEEMBREER

RAFE RAEBECERATHEES
BiAg ([FEGTEAE]) R 2ER] R
2B ([FEBMBHREER])  ZFEA
REeBEEER-

EFGTERE398E SHHOEMKEE
REBTBRE
R F75E (&3

)
BB (ARABRE

BEBUBREEL

2EZEg) FR-RERER
—RBEENR B 5
L (BRMB®RE RECEETH
ZEZE®

—REF125%

BB (RRE#BRE HEGHER
Z2EZEg) F19% — e @M
—RRBE145 BE ®EERER

FEBEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _-FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2.
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

FERHE RAEERT ER M B HRELER
(%)

R BBV RS LM AFEIBE
SRR Z XE MBI RER 27
ARAEEATE - F - HAEL TR

Accordingly, no prior period adjustment has been required. o

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect
on how the results and financial position for the current or
prior accounting periods have been prepared and presented.

AEEWERFEMA TS RMEHRE
M HR] RAMERT R B RT he iE o

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been

issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs” BB BREER ERUEHREER
(83]) pigidl
HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial EAEGHERNE S HEBRRENNHA?
Statements? SCHEN)
HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs? EAREERE23E ([EERA?
({B3T )
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate BERGHENFE2R  HReRERNTBKERRY
Financial Statements® SCHES)
HKAS 32 & 1 Puttable Financial Instruments BEAQENEIE EMBIARSES
(Amendments) and Obligations Arising on RE15%E (1BFT) BKELZEE?
Liquidation®
HKAS 39 (Amendment)  Eligible hedged items® EEGRIERENN AEREFEEC
(183])
HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of Hong Kong BB WwE 2R BRRNE BTG
Financial Reporting Standards® 15 (BEIAK) BEREAS

BEEREEBERAT | —REAEEHR B



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 _—FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. ERAHIIRKBITIEEMBEHREEL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) (&)
HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 Cost of an Investment in a BB B wE 2R RIBRE] - HEEH
(Amendments) Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled FIRRBEBGE ERsE Rz
Entity or Associate? EAFE275 (BFT) REZHKA?
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)  Vesting Conditions and BEMBHREER B IEM REHEY
Cancellations? £2%% (1&3])
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations® BB WS R E¥Ba 00
F35% (BFA)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)  Improving Disclosure about BRI BmEER ERVBIAREZ
Financial Instruments? 7% (B3]) B
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments? BEMBwEER BENE
X
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes® R (BBRMB®RE TPAHE
2EZE®)
—REZ135%R
HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of 58 (BEMIEHRE BHERERZ?
Real Estate? 2EZE®)
—REZ155%
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a 5% (BEMB®RE  HRENER
Foreign Operation® REZEY) REFHEY
—REZ165%
HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to R (BRI BHRE REBADIK
Owners? 2EZE®) FREBEY
—REETR
HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from a8 (ERMERE XRFERSEY
Customers® 2EZE®)
—REZ18%

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
except the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009

W ROZFFANF-HA-HAXEEFEGFEL
LR 1 EER TR e R FE 5 2 AT
oh AR -FEANFLHA—HEAREHIEZ

F FHIETE R
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 @ RIFBFENF-H-HEXEEFIRZ FE
HART 434
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 O RZFZNFHA-HALEEFHBZFE
BT 3%
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008 @ R-IFFENFEA-HELEEFHIEZ FE
HiRT 3%
®  Fffective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008 ® RZFFNFFH-HAEEFIEZ FE
HiRT 5%
©  Fffective for transfer of assets from customers received on or after 1 © HoFEHFLAHEEEFEZES
July 2009 BELZEAM

46 High Tech Group Limited | Annual Report 2008



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _-FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. ERA#HITIREBITEBVKREER
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) (#%&)

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the EREREMBREEREIR (BFIR)K
accounting for business combination for which the acquisition eYENERRAR _ZEZTNFLA—H
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting S EEMIAz BEEFERSHREMGBHZ
period beginning on or after 1 July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) BrEBEMzaTERE - BEGTER
will affect the accounting treatment for changes in a parent's 2758 (BRI AR) BB R RINMEB AT
ownership interest in a subsidiary. The directors of the BBt BB - ARREEHERE
Company anticipate that the application of the other new and FRE A BT AT RASHEET E R B FT 2 B
revised standards, amendments or interpretations will have no TEHASE 2 ¥ERMBRABKER
material impact on the results and the financial position of the -0

Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEEHEE

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations
issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

(a) HEBIEH

WEEEMBRRDIBEMBBERZ
FEMBHREER ([BEVBRESE
Al e EE S AR
ZFrAERERNEEMBREER
BEGHEN([BERFEI] R
2B BELAREARAUANEEAF
GO ZBRBEREMRE - MEHEAY
BHREMETEBBRAXIMERR
AAIERER LR ZBRRER

—
IE °

EERKEMARAT | —2EnEEH [N



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B %% 8RR MY A

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 _—FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of financial statements

(o)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for property,
plant and equipment and financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company for the year made up to 31
December 2008. Control is achieved where the Company
has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies at an entity so at to obtain benefit from its
activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the
Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

3. EEEFHBR(E)

(b) MBHRRZEREE

(c)

0 B TS 98 2 T 1 IR EE 2 R AR AR
B BERREARYBIA
BIEAFEHE -

REREZEE

RAMBRREBEARRARAAT
EHcERBEE_TTN\F+_A
=t BUEFEZMBRER -HARQ
AARNEEERCMBEREERR
NEE RS e NESZERZ
b

AERFRARBRHEZHBRARZE
B DRRBERASESGELE
AR B #IE (RERBERME ) &AL
BlERK -

NEFRE AEESUNBARZY
BRERELHRE EESFRRER
SEEMKE AT PARAERS—
o

SEARREZBERS &R WA
KRR A BR B R HEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _-FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(0)

(d)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group's
equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets
consist of the amount of those interests at the date of
the original business combination (see below) and the
minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the
combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess
of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are
allocated against the interests of the Group except to the
extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is
able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an enterprise in which the Group has the
power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and
operating policies, so as to obtain benefits from their
activities. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group controls
another enterprise.

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
balance sheet at cost less any impairment loss. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

3.

FESFTHEE (&)

(c)

(d)

RERBZEE(F

RomEAEEEZBEDFHES -
BEFENZ VBB REDRBREZSF
RENRAXBEFEMzH8E (R
TX) kD BBREEZE BB HIAR
ZREEEH - BANIBRRZER
B O P B 1 B i 2 D BUBUCR R 2
LA RANEE s S ER VR
WD BIR AL RN E E KA LAZRSL
RERMEEERI -

i) N

B AREAREARERIHEEZE
EUH RGBSR ELBRAHE
BmZEE-RFAEAREEEEEN S
—hEE BEERERITESRATE
My BERERREFEREFE-

R B R E 2 RE THR R A ERUE
MEBEFARRRZEERER
B ARIEETEARRIRE W RE
Wi B B AR

BEEREEEERAT | —REAFEHR [



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 _—FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. TESHEHE(£Z)

(e) XBEH

(e) Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed,
and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly
attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date,
except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that
are classified as held for sale, which are recognised and
measured at fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost
of the business combination over the Group's interest in
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment,
the Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is
initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net
fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised.

WX T ABE AT E - W 2K
AT BAEENEEE I
EESFTAYE 2 BE RIE R AR
IR AMBIT 2 RETAZRF
B MEXRBA G ERNEEBAEX
KRBT E - BWRBAZAIHHEE
E BELRIREE TIAREREE
Bz R EER RS BERFE
HEZIFRBEE (SHEHRR) - T3
VAR SFER h E R AR NG & -

RKBHEECAENERREE
WHFLAAEFE DRBEHZ
RABEAEENCERZ A HEE
E BERIRABEZAFFETZ
s 2 B0 o MR EMFHER - AKH
R AZ AT EE  BENRK
REME 2 RFFET 2 B X
B Z B (0 - B BN B 1R 25 R FE

27
e

DEBERN BB 2 #5925
BOBBERNERZEE BER
FRAEZRFFEF 2L HIFTE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _-FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FESHEE)

(f) Goodwill f) B

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity
recognised at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially
recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is presented
separately.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating
units expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or
more frequently when there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the
unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
a subsequent period.

Gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary includes the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the subsidiary.

BB Th M B A A = I AN SR [ R
BHIEN B AR B QR HARE
HEBAHESEE RERIAREE
ZRFFEZESBE BBV PR
AR B EE B RIREAR A
RETREE R E - WIEIE A R
EEZEERIHAZE®R

R BREMS BEENEEAR
EXEEMAIZERNEHBRNEZ
ReELEU -BEOoRMEZREE
LFENEBFAMNADRBRZLEN
AIRERE - R sa e Rl RUE - 3R &
EEEM 2 WOl e 8 D RZEMR
H{E R EE RS kD =R A EA
DEEZEMEHEREE MR
EREMSREERAERLADER
EZENEMBEE -EHEER M
BEEBITERNERAMEE -

HEMBARR 2 RENBEBER
MEAR AR zEEREE:

BENEEEERAE | —FF/\F5E RN



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 _—FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. EEEBEE)
(9) Revenue recognition (9) W=EER
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the W s 7 48 7 Al 5 AT B AN ER B R Y
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the AL SN SEET ERFIR T 5 AR MR

revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

()

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods and services provided
in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Wk iz e Wk B E 2 AF
Bt E AEREXBBRETM
et 2 & am K AR A HIRT H0 M 35
EHERER ZEBREE-

(i) Rental income under operating leases is recognized (i) KEHREBET 2 HeWATNES
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant FMAFHNERET AER -
lease.

(iiiy Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by (i) FMBWATIZEHKEERNE N
reference to the principal outstanding and at the BABRNERREELERG
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate AR GFE BTG E E 2 TR F
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash HMITE MR REE
receipts through the expected life of the financial ZEEREFEAMNE.
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

(iv) Dividend income is recognized when the (iv) DB A A PR B U ER A B 3R 58

shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

Z R ETE L B T LA SR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B %% 8RR MY A

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #tZ2 —ZEZF)\F+ _-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Leasing

0}

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognized in
the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Rental payable under operating leases are charged to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Benefit received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each group entity
are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional
currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial
statements, the results and financial position of each
entity are expressed in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
functional currency of the Company, and the presentation
currency for the consolidated financial statements.

3. EEEFHR(E)

(h) A&

0]

i 18 & {5 T P B 4 2 48 K B 1 [ B
REH®eEETAEAR ZZ5HED
BAREME-MMEAMEESER
z«< fﬁ o

EEEFESLHHEA

REMEZHSWAREERESFH
NEHEN W RIER - EE LT
REMBEEL 2P EERATTAH
EEEZHREE TIHEARUERE
HER R o

EEBEBEBA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #( 2 —ELEN\F+-HA=+—HIFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. EEEBEE)
(i) Foreign currencies (continued) (i) shus(E)

In preparing the financial statements of the individual TERAEEXEREE T FERKRE A
entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s ZERZINEEEE AN Gl (INE)
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded AR SERXZBHERMEXRRZ
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the BoNEBELEER  INERBRZE
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items BHIEEOREEBERIERERH
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the Ho AR FEVRIY AINE BB 2
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary FE¥MIEE e REEATERSRZ
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign ERBEMRE - AR LEKAFEIL A
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the INESTEZIEEBHIEE T EHHR
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary Ho

items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of BNEBKEEREFHEEKERR
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary FMEAEZER =Bt ABBR 2ES
items, are included in profit or loss for the period. FReBHRERNTLEY R IEEE
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non- HEHMEAZERZRBAAHANZE
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit mHEENREEENERPER
or loss for the period except for differences arising on the BRvEBEEMEEZEZERKR
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which She B EEHIEA M S - Bz &
gains and losses are recognized directly in equity. For such HEBOMEEERERPER-

non-monetary items, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised directly in equity.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial REYFE M BRERE  AEERH
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's ¥ EENBE (BRIBHT)Y
foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed REEAERNERUEEZ] A
in Hong Kong dollars using exchange rates prevailing kHAXIER (BELRET) HKHEA
on the balance sheet date. Income and expenses items ZFHEERRE  BRIFEXRNEAKX
(including comparatives) are translated at the average tBRE)  ERIERT  BIEAR S B
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates ZER -FIEAZERZE(NE) -
fluctuated significantly during the period, in which case BOEAERTBREAREER
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are FE-ZEEAEZBHENLER#IER
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as INETS 2 BRI AR B s iR o

equity and transferred to the Group's translation reserve.
Such translation differences are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is
disposed of.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _-FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. TESHEHE (&)

0}

Foreign currencies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet
date. Exchange differences arising are recognized in the
translation reserve.

0}

I ()

AWEEIRINEIEFTEL 2 B R A
BEZHE @ERBIEBZEER
BERE YNAEEREREMAZIE
RBE - FES 2 BN Z RN E N
RRER -

(j) Borrowing costs G) B
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, R AEK B R EAERTERE K
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are HEZEERBREEZWE B2iEx4E
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time EEEREZERKNER HMAZE
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added BEZRAN BEEZFEELTIE
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets REAZRIHEZRKRARIL -FEMS
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. RERAREREEREESZLAMEY
Investment income earned on the temporary investment FiZE AR EMBRABES &R
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on YEB ANMb 2 8 BB A HR H0RL ©
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss FTB HAbfE R AR E £ R ER
in the period in which they are incurred. R o

(k) Employee benefits k) EERF

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognized when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a

() ESEZEAH

BERZE ZFRERHRSERY
REBERGRER AEBEME
EHEHIEZFREEEREMH
REMZH 2 RPRBERP 2 &

result of services rendered by employees up to the TREELRE-

balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or EEEZBZRBEEBRIFER
paternity leaves are not recognized until the time of NMEEZREFHER -

leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 _—FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. TESHEHE(£Z)

(k) Employee benefits (continued) (k) EERF (&)

(i) EIKEFEH

(ii) Retirement benefit costs

The Group’s contributions to the defined
contribution retirement scheme set up pursuant to
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (the “MPF” Scheme) for all qualifying
employees are expensed as incurred. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

(iii) Share — based payments

The Group operates equity-settled share-based
payments to directors, employees and other parties.

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value (excluding the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions) at the date of grant.
The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period with
a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity, based on the Group's estimate of the shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non market based vesting conditions. The equity
amount is recognized in the capital reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is transferred
to the share premium account) or the option expires
(when it is released directly to retained earnings).

AEERREFERHEATES
A BUGRDGI RE 2 FE BAH FURIRET
g ([aEelt8)RAMBEE
RIER Z RTINS R -
AEEYRBESHEEL ZEE
HREFRXRA BB REEF
5o

(i) BREZL

AEERNEZ BEREMBAL
RENEGEE 2 RE T -

s E 2 IR R m A
HiZ P {E (0B IETH 35 55 8 1k
B )8 URRHEEY
PRSI R A REE 2 QF
B REANEE G RENIE
MERBGITRERARZK
I RAEARENEB A

I 7R HE 2 ) 2 B AN frf 85 VB A B AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _-FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FESHEE)

() Taxation () FHE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated income statement because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax base used in the computation of taxable profit, and
is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 _—FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

M

(m)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realized, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or
loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
dealt with in equity.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The principal annual
rates are as follows:

33'%5%
1%

Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and
20% - 33%
25%

office equipment
Motor vehicles

3.

EFESHER (&)

m
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W R MR DARC AR E R R AT
EREMREHRERER-

WE BB MEEINEGE A AE
HIN A B EIR B AR 2 KA
BRE-TEZETBFRMT:

ROk E$-3C 33%%
R K i 25 11%
R HER

NS 20%%33%
E 25%

58 High Tech Group Limited | Annual Report 2008



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _-FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. TESHEHE (&)

(m) W% -BERRE (&

(m) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation
of property, plant and equipment is credited to the
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously
recognized as an expense, in which case the increase is
credited to the consolidated income statement to the
extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in
net carrying amount arising on revaluation of an asset
is dealt with as an expense to the extent that it exceeds
the balance, if any, on the revaluation reserve relating to
a previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent
derecognition of a revalued asset, the attributable
revaluation surplus is transferred to retained profits.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the consolidated income statement in the year in which
the item is derecognized.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 _—FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. TESHEHE(£Z)

(n) AREEREREE (BHEKRN)
ZRME

(n) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
excluding goodwiill

FEW B 5 KA MR B E

(i) Impairment of trade and other receivables (i)

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its trade and other receivables
to determine whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the attention
of the Group about one or more of the following loss
events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;
and

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor.

Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade
debtors included in trade and other receivables,
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not
remote. In this case, the impairment losses for
doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery
is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is
written off against trade debtors directly and any
amounts held in the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amount previously written off directly
are recognised in consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _-FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. TESHEHE (&)

(n) AREEREREE (BHEKRHN)
ZWE (#&)

(n) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
excluding goodwill (continued)

(i) RftEEwE

(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify
indications that the following assets may be
impaired, an impairment loss previously recognized
no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amount); and
available-for-sale financial assets.

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pretax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. TESHEHE(£Z)

(n) AREEREREE (BHEKRN)
ZWE (&

(n) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
excluding goodwill (continued)

(i) BRttZEwE (%)

(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z - EENF+ _-H=—+—HiIFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated balance sheet when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

(i) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. Appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss
when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition.

(ii) Investments

Investments are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of
an investment is under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the investment within the
timeframe established by the market concerned,
and are initially measured at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. TESHHE(£Z)

(o) MBETHA (&)

(o) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) RE (&

(ii) Investments (continued)

At subsequent reporting dates, debt securities
that the Group has the expressed intention and
ability to hold to maturity (held-to-maturity
debt securities) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method, less any
impairment loss recognised to reflect irrecoverable
amounts. An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired, and is measured as
the difference between the investment'’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition. Impairment
losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an
increase in the investment's recoverable amount
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, subject to
the restriction that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed
shall not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z - EENF+ _-H=—+—HiIFFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. TESHEHE (&)

(o) MHETHA (&)

(o) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) RE (&

(ii) Investments (continued)

Investments other than held-to-maturity debt
securities are classified as either investments held for
trading or as available-for-sale, and are measured
at subsequent reporting dates at fair value. Where
securities are held for trading purposes, gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period. For available-for-sale
investments, gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value are recognised directly in equity, until
the security is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in equity is included in
the profit or loss for the period. Impairment losses
recognized in profit or loss for equity investments
classified as available-for-sale are not subsequently
reversed through profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognised in profit or loss for debt instruments
classified as available-for-sale are subsequently
reversed if an increase in the fair value of the
instrument can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the recognition of the impairment
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. TESHHE(£Z)

(o) MBETHA (&)

(o) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) RE (&

(ii) Investments (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the
financial assets are transferred and the Company
has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized
directly in equity is recognized in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and other short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by
the Group are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument. An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. TESHEHE (&)
(o) I TH(£&)

(o) Financial instruments (continued)

(v) Convertible bonds (v) THEREF

Convertible bonds that consist of a liability and
an equity components are regarded as compound
instruments. At the date of issue, the fair value of the
liability component is estimated using the prevailing
market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt.
The difference between the proceeds of issue of
the convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to
the liability component, representing the embedded
option for the holder to convert the bonds into
equity of the Group, is included in equity (capital
reserves).

Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and
equity components of the convertible bonds based
on their relative carrying amounts at the date of
issue. The portion relating to the equity component
is charged directly to equity.

The interest expense on the liability component is
calculated by applying the prevailing market interest
rate for similar non-convertible debt to the liability
component of the instrument. The difference
between this amount and the interest paid is added
to the carrying amount of the convertible bonds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. EEEBEE)
(o) Financial instruments (continued) (o) BIEITR (&)

(vi) Trade payables (i) EFEZ KR
Trade payables are subsequently measured at JETE B RRF N H B IRAERA
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate TR ARG = o
method.

(vii) Equity instruments (vii) ##% T A
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded REEFRET 2D TATIRE
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. W FT 1S SRIBHBR BB TR A&

BB o

(viij) Derecognition (viii) BUE 52
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the ERMeAZEERXTERR
obligation specified in the relevant contract is HUB S E S 2 BUB R 8
discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference B-BEUBBRZMBEGEZR
between the carrying amount of the financial HERENRENRERZH8
liability derecognized and the consideration paid and RIE=MER

payable is recognized in profit or loss.

(p) Inventories (p) FE
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net FEDEKXANERASRFERE 2
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, RIREVER - N ANEBRRBEEME K -
where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads WER BEESIXAREBESE
that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to BT E B AR kR 2 B E
their present location and condition. Cost is calculated B NAERNETEETE 7]
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value BRFENERFEGARPIHEZ
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary et EBRABEET TR ERKAE
course of business less all estimated costs of completion HE - HERDHE I ER
and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and
distribution.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o)

B %% 8RR MY A

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #tZ2 —ZEZ\F+ _-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(r)

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i)  The party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (1) controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, the Group; (2) has
an interest in the Group that gives it significant
influence over the Group; or (3) has joint control over
the Group;

3.

FESFHEE (&)

(q) BRERIAEE

(r)

MEBESEHMSTARBELSERNL

BEEE B EZRBETEER
TVE&T%1$&‘|’Z%§%U@%'JM/}|L AR
BERRIEHE 2B ERREH

B EREBEEAN BBEIIATE
HANENZERBE 2 2 HET

WA EF AR LR L ST 5
iﬂ_ﬂﬁ a‘l’ ’ E'J%#n 7 %'Jm//lhuujZ%A
2 BRIEEBERERIAEE:
BRIECEN @M L 2 EEN - S8
EHERIE#E £ N E4E 2 — AN ZIE
RREHEZIBERATHEZAIEEE
TaREERAIREE-

BEEAL
THALRRBEAEE G E

0) EZ/\iET&ﬁF‘?%%@B—Mi%
EFRNTHEE: ()EFIAEE 2
REEE ﬁ%lﬁzéﬂ$’ilx,\ﬂ?‘““
CURNOAE RN L S TEI RN S
BAEEATEN  HE)LRZES
REE

BENBEBEERAR | —ZSTNEFH NP



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. EEEBEE)
(r) Related parties (continued) () BRAEAL(£E)

(i) The party is an associate; (i) ZALTREERA:

(iiiy The party is a jointly-controlled entity; (i) ZATRILRZEHELE:

(iv) The party is a member of the key management (iv) ZATRAEEREGFRAFZE
personnel of the Group or its parent; EEEAE:

(v) The party is a close member of the family of any ()  #Z AL AE0)k(v)IE P Tl T e E
individual referred to in (i) or (iv); or ANBERZY) 2 REKE %

(vi) The party is an entity that is controlled, jointly (vi) ZATAR—HEEXEEZ (v
controlled or significantly influenced by or for which (V)IE P Bt 2 AR {a] B A 4% 6 2k
significant voting power in such entity resides, with EES - S ZEEABESKEE
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv) HZERTEEAVEIEEE
or (v). ARIEEEZER -

(s) Segment reporting (s) PEHE

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group DHEAEBEAN—ERSREEERNK

that is engaged either in providing products or services AR7% (¥ E) EE —ELBERE

(business segment), or in providing products or services R 2 dm S AR 7% (iﬁln—j’\*ﬁ)ﬁﬁ—ﬂu—j

within a particular economic environment (geographical B2 E - &P ERETACE 2 B B

segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are WEAE M D E AT E TR -

different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group's internal financial RBAKE 2 NEB SRR E - 3
reporting system, the Group has chosen business I BHREMS  ARBEEERUE
segment information as the primary reporting format BOMEREATEZRMEA WA
and geographical segment information as the secondary Hhfm 5 FPERHERR ERRIER -

reporting format for the purposes of these financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #tZ2 —ZEZ\F+ _-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

(t)

Segment reporting (continued)

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to
that segment. For example, segment assets may include
inventories, trade receivables and property, plant and
equipment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets and
liabilities are determined before intra-group balances
and intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of
the consolidation process, except to the extent that such
intra-group balances and transactions are between Group
entities within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is
based on similar terms as those available to other external
parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred
during the period to acquire segment assets (both
tangible and intangible) that are expected to be used for
more than one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and
corporate assets, interest-bearing loans, borrowing, tax
balances, corporate and financing expenses.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised as income over
the periods necessary to match them with the related
costs. Grants related to expense items are recognised
in the same period as those expenses are charged in
the consolidated income statement and are reported
separately as “other revenue”.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In preparing these consolidated financial statements,
management is required to exercise significant judgements
in the selection and application of accounting principles,
including making estimates and assumptions. The following
is a review of the more significant accounting policies that
are impacted by judgements and uncertainties and for which
different amounts may be reported under a different set of
conditions or using different assumptions.

Estimated recoverability of trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables based on an
assessment of the recoverability of the receivables. This
assessment is based on the credit history of its customers and
other debtors and the current market condition, and requires
the use of judgments and estimates. Management reassesses
the provision at each balance sheet date.

Property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and residual values for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment. Management will revise the depreciation
charge where useful lives and residual values are different
to previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategy assets that have been
abandoned or sold.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The Group’s plant and machinery included in the property,
plant and equipment of HK$84,973,000 were stated at fair
market value in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in note 3. The fair market value of plant and machinery
included in the property, plant and equipment are determined
by GA Appraisal Limited, a firm of independent property
valuers and the fair value of property, plant and equipment
as at respective year end were set out in note 13. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the judgement, consideration has
been given to assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the balance sheet dates and appropriate
capitalization rates. These estimates are regularly compared to
actual market data and actual transactions entered into by the
Group.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
PRC jurisdictions. The Group reviews the carrying amount of
deferred tax assets at each balance sheet date and reduces
the amount to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilized. This requires an estimation
of the future taxable profits. Estimating the future taxable
profits requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future earnings from the Group and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the
earnings.

BEETfhEt R (&)

M- BERRE (E)

REBYE BEREEET ZHRE R#
2281684,973,000 T IR BRI FE3FTil 2 &
THRRERATFTMEINER - BERE
HEETZBEREEZ AFmEHRBELY
EEEMTRELETHBRARERE

M BERZERSFLEBZATE
BERMIF13 - ZEHEDRESE TEREG

B MEBMREZATHEE BrlftEERLE
REEREE -TIELAER BEREE
BELAEBFEZTRAMIED 2 BE 75
EEREE AR E W EHE FH
HERMSEBERAEEI Y Z2ERRS
YELL & ©

8%

AEBAMNEERTBERDEERZFE
B-AKREREEEARTECHEEE
ZERHE{E WATBAERRHERT G
NMABRHBAE2MBHEANECHBEER
PR BRIt 82 7 T R SR AR B0 A
tEL A ET - T EH R R ER TS M FH 2
SESTEIAKRETES 2 ARRAFIED
st WEMBBE ZRBEEUFERNZ
HE-

BENBEEERAR | —ZTN\FEHR e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE 5. &=
(@) An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as @ AEEREREFEZWAITOT:
follows:
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Sales of goods EmiHE 78,644 52,612
(b) An analysis of the Group's other revenue for the year is as (b) REBRAFE zHEmlzm o
follows: T
2008 2007
—EENE —TETAF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Bank interest income RITH B U A 331 -
Interest on convertible bonds B[] Al R PR B 57 B
written back 230 548
Interest on promissory notes BOAHZENS
written back 144 -
Investment income from available-  AI{t HEFEEE ~
for-sale financial assets &E WA 295 -
Rental income Ha WA 15 32
Gain on redemption of f& o] AT M R B 5 W 2
convertible bonds 4,383 -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB AR W= 99,258 -
Government grants (note) BT & B (HaE) 784 -
Sundry income B A 204 36
105,644 616

Note:

Government grants of approximately HK$784,000 (2007: HK$Nil)
have been received in the current period towards allowances for

#98H784,0007T ( — T +HF ) Y HFE
BIERAERIRE - (E AR Tt 2 =8k

technology research.
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REMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
(i) Business segments
The following continuing operations are the basis on
which the Group reports its primary segment information.
There are no sales or other transactions between the

business segments.

Income statement

2008
Revenue Wz
Segment results DEEE

6. EBRHBED I
(i) %EHZoW
REERBETIFELE XL 2 MA
TEDHEM XN MEALEHE
FHEMR S -
W 25 7%
—EENF
Manufacturing

and trading of
ceramic blanks

Unallocated corporate AAREERA
income

Unallocated corporate ANREETH
expenses

Finance costs BMEKAR

Income tax expense PR E A

Loss for the year FEBE

and ferrules Others Total
REREE
BWEEM
RERE Hity k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETF T BEF T BYF T
78,486 158 78,644
8,332 (416) 7,916
104,844
(133,902)
(853)
(2,251)
(24,246)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6. EBRMEDE (&)
(continued)
(i) Business segments (continued) (i) (%o (E)
Income statement (continued) Was g ()
2007 —TTLRF

Manufacturing
and trading of
ceramic blanks

and ferrules Others Total
EEZEM
REHBE Hth PG
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BT T BT T B TFoT
Revenue g 52,612 - 52,612
Segment results DEEE 15,447 - 15,447
Unallocated corporate RABEEBA
income 616
Unallocated corporate AAOBEEZH
expense (9,029)
Finance costs BE KA (1,814)
Income tax expense FriSHER (5,038)
Profit for the year FERF 182
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6. EBRUMEDI (&)
(continued)
(i) Business segments (continued) (i) %% (E)
Other information HEtEH
2008 —EBEN\FE

Manufacturing
and trading of
ceramic blanks

and ferrules Others Total
REREE
BWEEM
REHE Ht waE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$°000
BT BT BT
Capital expenses BARRZ - 314 314
Depreciation e - 18 18
Other non—cash HMIER S
expenses - 12,809 12,809
Impairment loss on H o fE WK IE 2
other receivables BEEE - 113,101 113,101
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6. EBRMEDE (&)
(continued)
(i) Business segments (continued) (i) (%o (E)
Other information (continued) Rt &# (&)
2007 —TTLRF

Manufacturing
and trading of
ceramic blanks

and ferrules Others Total
EEZEM
REHBE Hth L
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$°000
BT T BT T B TFoT
Depreciation e 1 25 26
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6. EBRUMEDI (&)
(continued)
(i) Business segments (continued) (i) %% (E)
Balance Sheet BEEEMAX
2008 —EENF

Manufacturing
and trading of
ceramic blanks

and ferrules Others Total
HEREE
Fe & & W
FEE Hith s
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
BB F T BB F T BB F T
Assets BE
Segment assets DEPEE 51,032 574 51,606
Unallocated assets AOBEE 115,124
Total assets EEHE 166,730
Liabilities =L
Segment liabilities HEPEE 28,654 - 28,654
Unallocated liabilities ApbiafE 24,170
Total liabilities RRAE 52,824
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—FZE/\F+_-H=4+—HIFE

6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6. EBRMEDE (&)
(continued)
(i) Business segments (continued) () ¥¥oE(E)
Balance Sheet (continued) EEEMEX (&)
2007 —EBFLF

Manufacturing
and trading of
ceramic blanks

and ferrules Others Total
SHEREE
EEZEM
REHBE Hth PR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT oT BT BT T
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE 61,479 - 61,479
Unallocated assets APBEE 77,628
Total assets BERE 139,107
Liabilities a8
Segment liabilities DEEE 26,319 - 26,319
Unallocated liabilities KoEEBE 38,121
Total liabilities BiER%E 64,440
(ii) Geographical segments (i) HEDE
No geographical segment information of the Group HRAEBIZIEMISE D 2 K82
is shown as the Group's operations, turnover by B EREEREEDBLLNEERF
geographical market and assets are wholly located in EARARME ([HE])  HAEZ5]
Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China ("PRC"). REBZHEDEBER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_-FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

7. (LOSS) PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 7. RBE(F#HE) =N

(Loss) profit from operations of the Group has been arrived at REB & (EER)MN2MBR T
18 :

after charging the followings:

2008 2007
—EEN\E —EELF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BT
Staff costs (including directors’ BETIRA (BRESHE) :
remuneration):
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 6,524 2,913
Direct labour (included in cost of sales) BEEAST (BERHEEKSR) 9,631 5,268
Mandatory provident fund @M ARS R
contributions 584 265
16,739 8,446
Depreciation for property, M- -BEREREZITE
plant and equipment 18 26
Auditors’ remuneration ZE RN £ 500 550
Cost of inventories recognized BRAAX 2 FEKA
as expenses 59,624 32,118
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE RE&E2EE
plant and equipment 753 -
Impairment loss on other receivables Hoh fE WK IE 2 B S 1B 113,101 -
Operating lease rentals in respect of T REFLEEHERS
land and buildings 507 771
Share options expenses FE R iR S 12,809 -
Net foreign exchange losses b H BB FRE 491 -
and after crediting the followings: KETATSIIEB &K -
Net foreign exchange gains P H 2= F 58 - 11
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB AR Z W 99,258 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MMEMAK
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESFIE 686 1,797
Interest on promissory notes EHEBENE 144 -
Other interest Ha 7 B 23 17
853 1,814
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS

0]

Directors’ emoluments

2008

Executive Directors

Cheng Qing Bo

Tung Tai Yung (note j)

Li Fang (note if)

Chung Man Wai (note iii)

Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph (note iv)

Non-executive Director
Lin Nan (note v)

Independent Non-executive
Directors

Liu Zheng Hao (note vi)

Lam Williamson (note vii)

Mak Wai Fong (note vii)

Fung Chan Man, Alex (note ix)

Lee Chung Mong, John (note x)

Tam Wing Kin (note xi)

HITES
B R

EXE (Hii)
T B (W)
& (M)
RIRER (Hiztiv)

FUTES
1B (i)

BUFUTES

BB (Mitvi)
2R (Hiitvi)
BEF (Mztvii)
BB (Hritic)
ZHX (Hitx)
BERE (Hitn)

9. EERTEBRSHFEEZHME

(i) EE=E<
—EENF
Other emoluments
Hittfh<

Retirement

Salaries and Scheme
Fees other benefits contributions Total

FeR B E
e HiE# H®& a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETFT BETT BETFT BETFT
28 - - 28
195 - 2 197
33 - - 33
33 - - 33
40 - - 40
40 - - 40
40 - - 40
409 - 2 411
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' 9. EERhEESHFEEZME (&)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(i) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (i) E=#E (&)

2008 (continued) —EBENE (&

Note: Mt

i) Mr Tung Tai Yung resigned on 29 October 2008. ) EBERBEER-ZZN\FE+HA-t+IA
BT o

i) Ms. Li Fang resigned on 7 May 2008. iy FHREZLIHR-_TTN\FRALHEE-

i) Mr. Chung Man Wai was appointed on 22 October 2008. iy EXEEENR_ZZNFTA-+AH
BT

iv)  Mr. Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph was appointed on 30 April 2008. v) BEEXER-ZTZENFHA=1H
BEE-

v)  Mr. Lin Nan resigned on 7 May 2008 v) MREERZZTZN\FERAEABHT-

vi)  Mr. Liu Zheng Hao resigned on 7 May 2008. vii BIEAEEER-_ZZTNFRALH
BT o

vii)  Mr. Lam Williamson resigned on 7 May 2008. viiy§ MEEXAR-_ZTTNFHALH
BT -

viii)  Ms. Mak Wai Fong resigned on 7 May 2008. vii) ZEEFLZ TR T NFRALH
BT o

ix)  Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex was appointed on 30 April 2008. ix) BEXEER_ZTZENFHA=1H
BEE-

x)  Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John was appointed on 30 April 2008. x) FHREKBIHR-_ZZNFNMA=1H
BEE-

xi)  Mr. Tam Wing Kin was appointed on 30 April 2008. X) BEREENR-ZTTNFMA=1H
BEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' 9. EER T EZESHEEZMS (&)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(i) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (i) E=ME (&)
2007 —TTLF
Other emoluments
Hitie
Retirement
Salaries and Scheme
Fees  other benefits  contributions Total
Fek RIKEE
e At fah X Gh
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000

EETT BT BT BT

Executive Directors HTES

Cheng Qing Bo OB R - - - -
Tung Tai Yung (note j) EXE (Miti) - - - -
Li Fang 3 84 - - 84
Non-executive Director kHiTES

Lin Nan o - - - -

Independent Non-executive ~BIYFHTEES

Directors
Liu Zheng Hao 2 - - - -
Woo Man Wah (note i) HEE (fiiti) - - - -
Lo Kin Chung (note i) LR (M) 22 - - 22
Lam Williamson (note i) HWEE (Hitiv) 75 - - 75
Mak Wai Fong (note v) BRE (fitv) 75 - - 75

256 - - 256
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' 9. EERhEESHFEEZME (&)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(i) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (i) E=#E (&)

2007 (continued) TEBALFE(F)

Note: Kat -

i) Mr Tung Tai Yung was appointed on 9 October 2007. ) BEABEER_ZTLETANBE
ZfEe

i) Ms. Woo Man Wah resigned on 5 February 2007. ii) EELITHR-_TTLF-_AAHA
BT

i) Mr. Lo Kin Chung resigned on 31 March 2007. iy BERALAER-_ZTZL+F=ZA=+—H
BEE -

iv)  Mr. Lam Williamson was appointed on 5 February 2007. v) MEEEAN_ZTL+FEF_ARHEE
Zifo

v)  Ms. Mak Wai Fong was appointed on 21 March 2007. v) HEEFZITRZZTTLF=A=+—H
BEE-

During the two years ended 31 December 2008, no REBEE-_ZTZT/\F+-_A=+—HL

emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the MEFEAEELEATN-ZESR

directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the SXNMEERRSI EMARIMARE

Group or as compensation for loss of office. In addition, B 2 BB SIERERERML 2/

no directors waived any emoluments for the two years fEolih WEREEHREE-FTN

ended 31 December 2008. F+ZA=+—HLMEFEZEMA

During the year, 134,120,000 share options granted to FRETES134,120,00017 EHE 2

the directors were set out in note 29. FEIBE N MIFE29 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' 9. EER T EZESHEEZMS (&)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(i) Five highest paid employees (i) TEEaFHES

During the year, the five highest paid individuals included RER AEEBREHZRFTATF:
one director (2007: three), details of whose emoluments —BBARBER(ZETLF: =
are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining B) EHFMER X -HEfpmEaFHA

highest paid individual were as follows: TEE T -

2008 2007
—EENE —TELF
HK$'000 HK$'000
B F T BT T

Salaries and allowance ¥ra KoRRL 1,059 871
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIHEFR 37 3
1,096 874

Emoluments of the non-director highest paid individuals 3FEEZEH A L2 H BRI 0T :
fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

AT EEB
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 B Z p =% 1,000,0007T 4 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the

Group has no assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong

Kong during the year (2007: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable

elsewhere have calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in

the countries in which the Group operates, based on existing

legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

Current year:
Hong Kong Profits Tax
PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Underprovision in prior years:
Hong Kong Profits Tax
PRC Enterprise Income Tax

REE:
HAENEHR
TEEEMAEHR

EFERET R
HENEHR
TEEEMAEHR

10. FiiSBiE A

HRAKERFALERESKBRE L
FERFLE A - B UL Ep B AR S BED
BE(—TTLF 8E) HM T ERMK
EMZ IR DRAEEREXBAEL
BR2HAED  RERIED - HERER

TR
2008 2007
—BENE —TTLE
HK$000 HK$°000
BT EWT T
2,112 5,038
2,112 5,038
139 -
139 -
2,251 5,038
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FREHER (&)
The taxation on the Group's (loss) profit for the year differs RAEEFE (BE)mMFE 2 HK -
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the BIEARNT REMBAREMER ZEE
statutory rates for the countries in which the Company and its MEFE BRI HEARERB R
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax charge at the effective tax BoBMBEIHZRZ0T

rates are as follows:

2008 2007
—EEN\E —EELF
HK$'000 HK$000
BT BT
(Loss) profit before tax BrA AT (B8 ) a7 (21,995) 5,220
Taxation at notional rate REBMEFEZIE (3,629) 914
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBBRAZ R G E (16,466) -
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AT B 2 BT L
taxation purposes 47 5
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not FRARERGHIEBEZ
recognized for the year MG e 21,442 1,753
Tax effect of income tax underprovided in  FF TS HEFETE 2
prior years MG e 139 -
Effect of different tax rates operating RO HE At B1ERE R AL
in other jurisdictions TRME Z 28 718 2,366
2,251 5,038
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

11.

12.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the balance sheet date (2007:
Nil).

(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic (loss) earnings per share is calculated based
on the (loss) profit attributable to shareholders of loss of
approximately HK$24,038,000 (2007: profit of approximately
HK$182,000) and the weighted average number of
6,019,084,345 (2007: 723,087,310) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2008 is calculated based on the loss attributable to
shareholders of approximately HK$24,038,000 and the
weighted average number of 5,919,929,930 for the purpose
of diluted loss per share.

The diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2007 has not been disclosed as the exercise price
of the Company’s convertible bonds were higher than the
average market price for shares and there was no outstanding
share option.

11.

12.

[ @=)

RF AR E SN B AR S T8 4
BHETEHRETARE (ZTTLF:
&)

BR (BER)AF

ERERN(BBE)BFNIIBREBEFAZRE
FE 1 (B3 18 ) & ) 40 /& 18 75 24,038,000
T(ZZEZLEF 5 HMEE®182,000
TI)RFANBEBEITEBR 2 NEFH
#6,019,084,345 ( — T T + & :
723,087,3100% ) 5+ & o

HE-_ZTEN\F+_A=+t—BILtEFEZ
BRESERIREBERFEELBBOBE
24,038,0007T K 5t G i SE E 1B ™ 5 < a0
7 F15%5,919,929,930/% 5t & -

AR A T2 ATRAR 5 2 178 B8
T THEAS BN ATTE Y R
B ERBRE BB A=+ —
BiLEE s SRE SRR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2007
Exchange re-alignment
Adjustment on valuation

At 31 December 2007 and
at 1 January 2008

Additions

Disposal

Exchange re-alignment
Disposal of a subsidiary
Adjustment on valuation

At 31 December 2008

Comprising

At cost
At valuation - 2008

13. ME -BERRKE

rEE
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Plant and and office
improvements machinery equipment Total
BR-RER
HEMELE T BAERE By
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
BETT BT BT BT
KA A
RZZEZTtF-A—-H 1,251 96,500 1,338 99,089
& 5030 % - 45 - 45
fHERAR - (4,823) - (4,823)
N
+ZA=+-8Hk
RZZEENF—H—H 1,251 91,722 1,338 94,311
NE 265 - 49 314
HE (37) (729) (78) (844)
BHAE - 34 - 34
HEMBLAA - - (540) (540)
HEHE - (6,054) - (6,054)
RZZEEN\F+_A
=t—H 1,479 84,973 769 87,221
B
W 1,479 - 769 2,248
BEE-—TEN\E - 84,973 - 84,973
1,479 84,973 769 87,221
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. ME - -BERSZE (£)
The Group (continued) KE®(E)
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Plant and and office
improvements machinery equipment Total
BR-£ER
HENEHEE RE R BAERE ok
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT EETFT

Accumulated depreciation and ZAFERRERE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2007 R-ZZZTtF-A—H 1,216 - 1,310 2,526
Charge for the year AFEEXH 12 - 14 26
At 31 December 2007 and RZTELF
at 1 January 2008 +ZA=+—-Bk
R-ZEN\F-A—H 1,228 - 1,324 2,552
Charge for the year AEEXH 10 - 8 18
Written back on disposal H &R (18) - (73) (1)
Written back on disposal of HEWRBAREERD
a subsidiary - - (540) (540)
At 31 December 2008 RZZENF
+ZA=+—-H 1,220 - 719 1,939
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2008 RZZTNF
+=ZRA=+—H 259 84,973 50 85,282
At 31 December 2007 RZTZTLF
+-A=+—H 23 91,722 14 91,759
The Group's plant and machinery were revalued at AN_ZEENF+ZA=+T—H AKEZ
HK$84,973,000 as at 31 December 2008 (2007: WE MR BY A BREERMAEEE
HK$91,722,000) by GA Appraisal Limited, independent FHEBRARINATFMEENGE €8
qualified valuers, by using fair market value. 775 #84,973,000T (=TT L F B

91,722,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o)

For the year ended 31 December 2008 &

B %% 8RR MY A

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The Company

Cost
At 1 January 2007,
31 December 2007 and
31 December 2008

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses
At 1 January 2007,
31 December 2007 and
31 December 2008

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2008

At 31 December 2007

o
% B
[l

I R

o oA oo A
N—
/—l

—+ [+ ]
Ay
[ [ v
+wq?4|rwq?wq|?
m I
e |
jnn|

|
m

R ERREER

}J_A—vv":ﬂz ﬂ El‘

e

D YAR:

+Z—R=+—H
FmEFE
RZEZENGF
+Z—A=+—8

)i

|1 A

o A
[ v

- F
+ +—H

P oEENFL A=+ —HILFE

13. ME -BERRHE (&)

AAT

Furniture,

fixtures

Leasehold and office
improvements equipment Total

BHR-HER
HEMEEE BAERE HEE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T B TT BEF T
1,213 708 1,921
1,213 708 1,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 14. RIE QAR ZRE
2008 2007
—EENF ZETLF
HK$'000 HK$°000
BYTFT B F T
Unlisted shares, at cost FE LR - K AE 16 16
Less: impairment losses JB BB B R (16) (16)
Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2008, FEMBRARIR_ZEZENF+_RA=1+—
which materially affected the Group's results or net assets, are B2 BHRME39  ZEWB AR NE
set out in note 39. rEBCEXBENEEFEREARESL-
15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 15. AIHENBEE
Available-for-sale financial assets represent club debenture AL EVBEERMNBARIFEZEM
held by a subsidiary and equity linked notes, and are stated at B KR AR TRIR - ARCARAE Al R 5T
cost less any accumulated impairment losses, and are tested WEBES R MR ERFETAIH -

annually for impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 15. Al HEBMEEE (£)

The Group NEH
HK$°000
BT
Cost D%
At 1 January 2007, 31 December 2007 and R-_EBEZ+F—HF—H-
at 1 January 2008 —ZEEt+F+A=1T—HK
R-_ZTN\F—HF—H 830
Disposal of a subsidiary B 2 7 (830)
Additions NE 2,937
At 31 December 2008 RZZEZENF+ZA=+—H 2,937
Amortisation and impairment B NORE
At 1 January 2007, 31 December 2007 and RZZEZLF-—HA—HB ZFTZFLF
1 January 2008 +-A=+—BER-_ZZNF—F—H 634
Written back on disposal of a subsidiary HEH B A G R (684)
At 31 December 2008 RZZZNF+_R=+—H -
Net carrying amount AREFE
At 31 December 2008 R-ZZBZNF+_-_R=+—H 2,937
At 31 December 2007 RZEZT+F+=ZA=+—H 146
Represented by: b=
Club debenture gMES -
Equity linked notes IR AN #5882 4% 2,937
2,937
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATE
e MBmERME

D FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

The Company

Cost
and

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2007, 31 December 2007 and
at 1 January 2008

Additions

At 31 December 2008

16. INVENTORIES

Inventories comprises of:

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

17. DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

The amount due from subsidiaries is unsecured, interest free

and has no fixed terms of repayment.
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RATF

15. IHHEMBEE (&)

HK$'000
BT T
AR
)53
BREEE
R-_EZE+F—H—H-
—EE+HF+-A=+—HK
RZBEZENF—H—H -
NE 2,937
R-ZEENF+-_A=+—H 2,937
16. #&
FERE:
2008 2007
—EEN\F —EELF
HK$’000 HK$'000
B F T BB F T
YR 7,194 6,653
BRI 7,137 4,911
SR SR 8,519 7,496
22,850 19,060

17. B FI B 2~ Bl FIE

TEERH

B AR RAERREEN R ENEE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. BWE Z R HEMIRM
The Group The Company
KEM K27
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —TTLF ZBENF —TTLF
HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000 HK$ 000
BEFT BETT BEFT BETFT
Trade receivables [EUWE S 25,585 16,920 = -
Other receivables, H o R RE -
deposits and prepayment e REMFE 3,216 6,664 56,199 9,956
28,801 23,584 56,199 9,956
The fair value of the Group's trade and other receivables at REBEKE S REAMEFIN _ZEZNE
31 December 2008 was approximate to the corresponding + A=+ RAZAFEHRERAERDE
carrying amount. HBE-
The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows: JEWE SRR R IT
The Group The Company
A&EE NG|
2008 2007 2008 2007
—E2EENE —TT+F ZBENF —ITTLF
HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000 HK$ 000
BEFT BETT BEFT BETT
Within 30 days DH30K 6,870 6,352 = -
31 to 90 days 31E90K 6,450 5,292 - -
91 to 180 days 91E180K 7,505 3,893 - -
Over 180 days HiB180K 4,760 1,383 - -
25,585 16,920 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 18. EWWE S R HEMERR (&)

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$4,760,000 (2007: HK$1,383,000) which are past due as
at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

Aging of the Group'’s trade receivables which are past due but
not impaired:

jukl

Over 180 days BB 180K

Total FRE

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable.

AEBZERKEZEREHBIERERE
4 5 7E%4,760,00070 (Z T F B
1,383,0007T ) 2 FE W FRIE - 5% 2 RIBER A
WwEHEBE S AKE W KRR EE
BIEHBE AEBVERZSEHRESR
EfRHEE G o

AREE DB HE = AR E 2 FEUE IR
ARbe

2008 2007
—2IN\E —TELF
HK$°000 HK$°000
EBETT BETIT
4,760 1,383
4,760 1,383

L 780 B 15 ARORUE 2 FE W E B AR R TY B
TAEBBRAERTBECHIBYETPE
WoRBAELR EEEARENARGE
BRUEEREL BEHERT 2850
BB A TR S A AR E OB E RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

19. DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY 19. FEWNBAE A RIFIE
Particulars of the amount due from a related company of the BIBEEB QRGO E161BIKEE 2 ANEE
Group disclosed pursuant to Section 161B of the Hong Kong 2 —EBERRIRRESEFBLOT

Companies Ordinance are as follows:

The Group rEH
At At At Maximum amount
Name of 31 December 31 December 1 January outstanding during the year
related company 2008 2007 2007 2008 2007
RZZBNE RIBBLE RZBLE ERREFELR
BEAREH +=ZA=+-B t=A=t-H -A-H —BBNE —BRtE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BT BT EETT

iKanTV Limited 562 - - 562 -
Shenzhen Weiyi Optical R E BT
Communication Technology AR ([E:E])
Limited (“Weiyi") - 4,521 175 4,521 4,521
562 4,521 175
The Company AAFE
At At At Maximum amount
Name of 31 December 31 December 1 January outstanding during the year
related company 2008 2007 2007 2008 2007
RZBENE RIBBLE RITBLE FRRBRELR
BEAREHE +=ZA=t-B +t=ZA=t+-H —-A—-H “EENE “E2tE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000

BT BETT BETT BT BT

iKanTV Limited 562 - - 562 -
Shenzhen Weiyi Optical R R B
Communication Technology BRAR (T5E])
Limited (“Weiyi") - - 9,483 - 9,483
562 - 9,433

BENBEEBERAE | —EENFFEH PP



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

19.

20.

DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY (continued)

The amount due from related companies is unsecured, interest
free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

Weiyi is controlled by Mr. Cheng Qing Bo, the executive
director as well as a shareholder of the Company.

The executive director Mr. Chung Man Wai is a common
director of iKanTV Limited.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less.

The deposits carry at prevailing market interest rate of 0.001%
t0 0.15% (2007: Nil) per annum.

19

20.

. EWBEEQRRE (#)

FEUCRR = AR A S EER 28 MEE
TEE R

BRE R AR BIMITES MRRKIB R T
1 o

HITEFE R KA BiKanTV Limited £H
B=-

RERBITET
ReRRTEFEEAKEREZRE R
BB =@ A KA T 2 ERI TR

TR A 2R B TR E R ER 2 5 FER
EAF0001EE0.15E (ZEE 4 |)

The Group

Cash at bank and on hand RIThFHERE

Short-term deposits at banks RERITER

Cash and bank balances in the RIEEEEBEBERK
consolidated balance sheet and the meERERERZ
consolidated cash flow statement Be RIRITHET

The Company

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHERS

Short-term deposits at banks 52 A E BRE K

Cash and bank balances in the
balance sheet
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HE-

REERBERRBASRERZ

Be MRITHER

AEE
2008 2007
—EBN\F BT F
HK$°000 HK$'000
AT BETT
516 37
25,782 -
26,298 37
LN
2008 2007
—BE\F  —TTHF
HK$°000 HK$°000
BEFT BETFT
499 7
25,782 -
26,281 7




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z - EENF+ _-H=—+—HiIFFZ

21. BORROWING 21. B8
The Group and the Company
AEBERAQT
2008 2007
—EENFE —EELF
HK$000 HK$°000
BB F T JBE BT oT
Loan from non-financial institution REFVEEEEE - 1,700
Other loan HipfgE 12,400 -
12,400 1,700
Unsecured 4545 12,400 1,700
Carrying amount repayable: FEAT AR EME ¢
On demand or within one year BB —FR = 1,700
More than one year, but not exceeding —FUALETBBRE
two years 12,400 -
12,400 1,700
Less: Amounts due within one year B RENBEETNIRLZ
shown under current liabilities —FNEE 2 FRIE = (1,700)
12,400 -

KEFMBEHBZERREER ZRE
BB F N R2EF EAWBIRBRKEE

Loan from non-financial institution is unsecured and bears
interest at prime rate minus 2% per annum and is repayable
on demand.

AREBRFENESEARZEHERBE
12,400,0007T ° #% & B 1% Bl 7E F M K2 E 7
BWER-_ZE—ZFTFH—BEE - AT
ERDABERAIMRES 2 BHREMIE

redemption of convertible bonds. e

During the year, the Group obtained a new loan of promissory
notes of HK$12,400,000. The loan bears fixed interest at
2% per annum and will be repayable on 1 June 2010. The
promissory notes were incurred as part of consideration for
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—FZE/\F+_-H=4+—HIFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. ERESREMEBER

The Group The Company

A%HE e
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —TTLHF ZBENF —TTLF
HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000 HK$ 000
BEFT BETFT BEFT BETFT
Trade payables BB SER 8,313 6,380 - -

Temporary deposits, accruals and ~ BRES R4  [E:HE

other payables REMERFRIE 10,179 14,944 4,840 10,185
18,492 21,324 4,840 10,185

The aging analysis of trade payables is as follows: ERE SRR ZERRIITHT

The Group The Company
X&E N

2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —TT+F ZBENF —TTLF
HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000 HK$ 000
BYEFT BT BEFT BETFT
Within 30 days DH30K 4,768 3,297 = -
31 to 90 days 31290k 2,853 2,389 - -
91 to 180 days 912180k 48 161 - -
Over 180 days HiB180K 644 533 - -
8,313 6,380 - -

23. DUE TO A DIRECTOR/A SHAREHOLDER 23. R4 —RESE REFE

RIS—ZER /BRRRBARBER L8

The amount due to a director/a shareholder is unsecured,
interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
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24,

25.

DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

Shenzhen Weiyi Optical Communication

Technology Limited (“Weiyi") (IBzE])

Weiyi is controlled by Mr. Cheng Qing Bo, the executive
director as well as a shareholder of the Company.

The amount due to a related company is unsecured, interest
free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 31 October 2002, the Company issued convertible
bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) with principal amount of
HK$27,400,000 which were originally due and mature on 31
October 2003. The Company will repay the principal amount
outstanding under the Convertible Bonds to the bondholders
together with interest accrued thereon up to and including
the date of actual repayment upon maturity. The Convertible
Bonds bear interest at a rate of 2% per annum on the
aggregate principal amount outstanding from time to time.
The interest is payable yearly in arrears on 31 December in
each year. The Convertible Bonds carry the rights to convert,
at the discretion of the bondholders, either in whole or in part
of the principal amount into ordinary shares of the Company
at the initial conversion price of HK$0.17 per share (subject to
adjustments), from 1 November 2002 to the maturity date of
31 October 2003.

24,

25.

X+ —HERERTNKIER

R B BB AR A

2008 2007
—EE2N\F —E2+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
EBETT BT T
4,457 -

BRE RN R BIMITES MR R EE
1 o

RN —RRERARFARSEER RER
A B TE SR K

R ES

R-ZTE-_F+A=+—H AR
AN 4 58 57 1527,400,0007T 2 7] #2 AR (E 5
([FIRESR])  ZEEHFRN_TZT =
FH+A=1T—B2H - KRR E R B HRF M)
BEHEFEABEURRES 2 REELS
HEREZEREENS (B2EZA) 2Bt
B - AR EHE TR RBE 2 A BREE
FRHREFHB -FERTF+=_A=1+—
B R ESME LIRE EFFE
AR ZEBEE-F+—A—HEE-ZTZT
—F+A=1+—H8EHAHH UK
HBEFRABE0N7T (T FAR) WIS
BRI RSB IBLAERRR 2 LB

Bt e
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 25. ATEERESR (£)

On 1 November 2003, the Company entered into agreements
with the bondholders to extend the maturity date to 31
October 2005, with the existing terms and conditions
remained unchanged.

On 28 December 2004, the Company entered into
agreements with the bondholders to extend the maturity
date to 30 April 2006, with the existing terms and conditions
remained unchanged.

On 26 December 2005, the Company entered into
agreements with the bondholders to extend the maturity
date to 30 April 2007, with the existing terms and conditions
remained unchanged. Accordingly, the amount is classified as
non-current at 31 December 2005.

On 31 July 2006, the Company entered into agreements with
the bondholders to extend the maturity date to 30 June 2008,
with the existing terms and conditions remained unchanged.
Accordingly, the amount is classified as non-current at 31
December 2006.

On 28 September 2007, the Company entered into
agreements with the bondholders to extend the maturity date
to 31 December 2009, with the existing terms and conditions
remained unchanged.

R-ZEZ=F+—H—HB AQFHEES
REAI LA LERIPEE_ZTZTRF
TRA=1t—R MAB GG ERST

@o

RZZETWE+ A=+ \H KAFH
BEFERBAFLGRERIPAE_FF
NEMOA=+A MRE GREARM

R-_BEZRF+ A=+ A AAFHE
ERFAALHRERIPEE_ZZE
+FWA=+8 MREGERRGEEERS
TE#-BI ZESEN_TTRF+_A
=+—HoBEEFRD-

R-ZZTEZERFLtA=+—H KARAHE
FRANULHHRLERIPEE-ZTEN
FRA=ZTH MBRB GRS ERT
oIt ZEZLBRN_TTRF+T A
=t—HREFERD-

R-EBEE+ENA-+NB KA FEE
EEBEAB A VHSBERINPEE _ZTTAH
F+_A=+—HB MBREEREIGG®

R
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 25. OJARESR (&)

On 1 June 2008, the Company early redeemed all the RZFEZNFNA—B A2 RRE A
convertible bonds issued by the Company to the bondholders RIE A AR & 5 B Bl 1 & (A H 78 A ]k
on 31 October 2002 before maturity pursuant to the BEAFEC AT  EFEEMAALQR
Convertible Bonds Redemption Agreements as supplemented E"_gg_i‘#ﬂ =t+—HREHFFEA
by the Supplemental Convertible Bonds Redemption 21T Z AR ES

Agreements.

The Group and the Company

AEBRAQTF
2008 2007
—EENE  —TTLF
HK$'000 HK$000
BT T BT T
Liability component at the beginning FYREHD
of the year 24,859 25,640
Interest expenses FMEFX 686 1,797
Fair value adjustments N EAE - (2,029)
Interest waived HEF L (230) (549)
Redemption fE [l (25,315) -
Liability component at the end FRABEHM
of the year - 24,859

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying
an effective interest rate of 6.58% (2007: 6.58%) to the
liability component for the year since the convertible bonds
were issued. A gain of approximately HK$4,383,000 from
the redemption of the convertible bonds is recognized in the
consolidated income statements.

No convertible bonds was outstanding as at 31 December
2008.

EmﬂﬁﬁﬂgMAQ%’*"TWQE%EZE
REBEIDERZERN X6.58E (=

TF: 658J_>a+,a°ﬁ“@ﬂﬁﬂxff%<z
I 25 #4078 854,383,000 L E R 4R A WS KR FE

o
R-BEZNFE+-_A=+—H TEXRE
Bz ES-
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 25. ATERRESR (£F)

B RZFELF A=+ —H"
RBREHFEERH 2 A FEHN BB
24,859,0007T c s A FEDIERKE 2 ME
ATSFIEREEIRGEH -

The directors estimate the fair value of the liability component
of the convertible bonds at 31 December 2007 to be
approximately HK$24,859,000. This fair value has been
calculated by discounting the future cash flows at the market
rate.

26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 26. EEHEERE

AEENAFE L BEFEERE (BR)Z
TBREVAAGE (BE) REPWT:

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)
provided (recognized) by the Group, and the movements
thereon, during the current and prior years:

The Group rE
Accelerated  Convertible  Revaluation
tax bonds-equity  of plant and Tax
depreciation ~ component machinery losses Total
MEHE ARRES EtEE
wE  -RR¥e KRR HEBEBR ot
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BETFT BEFT BEFIT BEFT BEFT
At 1 January 2007 RZZE+F—-H—H 5,488 550 8,377 (5,488) 8,927
Credit to (charged from) FACIR)AFEEZ
equity for the year Em - 428 (3,419) - (2,991)
At 31 December 2007 and R -ZTT+F
at 1 January 2008 TZA=+-HEk
R-ZEN\F-A—H 5,488 978 4,958 (5,488) 5,936
Disposal of a subsidiary HERBAE (5,488) - - 5,488 -
Effect of change in ERNEEY T E
applicable tax rate - - (283) - (283)
Charged from equity HBRAFE 2 s
for the year - (978) (1,114) - (2,092)
At 31 December 2008 R_ZENF
+=-A=+-H - - 3,561 - 3,561
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26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued) 26. ELEBIBERE (&)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for NTAREEABRRMSELEHIBERZ
balance sheet purposes: DT
2008 2007
—EENF ZETLF
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T
Deferred tax liabilities BREHIEARE 3,561 11,424
Deferred tax assets BEMIEE E - (5,488)
3,561 5,936
At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of REFE R AEBEBRBATKEBLEE
approximately HK$416,000 (2007: HK$72,051,000) available 416,0007T (ZEZ 4 : B %72,051,000
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been 7 ) A RS AR AR K - R R BETRET R
recognized in respect of HK$416,000 of such losses due to the Bk AN - B B 54 5 5 1878 15416,0007T
unpredictability of future profits streams. BRELEHIBEE -
The Company PN
Convertible
bonds-equity
component
ARRES
— Rz TR 1D
HK$°000
BT T
At 1 January 2007 R-ZZETLF—H—H 550
Credit to equity for the year FTAREE 2w 428
At 31 December 2007 and at 1 January 2008 R _ZZ+F+_-_A=+—HxX
R-ZZNF—H—H 978
Charged from equity for the year NAFE 2 kR (978)
At 31 December 2008 RZZBZENF+_HA=+—H -
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27. SHARE CAPITAL

The Group and the Company

Authorised:

At 1 January 2007,
31 December 2007 and
at 31 December 2008

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At 1 January 2007 and

31 December 2007
Bonus issue (note i)
Placing of shares (note ij)
Subscription issue (note iif)
Rights issue (note iv)
Remuneration issue (note v)

At 31 December 2008

NFEFZA=14—HILFE

Note:

iii)

27. B
AEBERADF
Number of
shares Amount
BB E wmE
HK$'000
BB F T
AR
R-_EZ+F—H—H"
—EE+F+_A=+—H
ER-ZEENE
+=—A=+—8H 50,000,000,000 500,000
BEITRARKRA:
BB 0.017T 2 E@AX
R-ZEZLF—HF—HK
T+ F+-_A=+—H 723,087,310 7,231
BATHIR (KTaEi) 36,154,365 362
Be A% (47a%ii) 1,458,000,000 14,580
REBEETT (B A ) 3,542,000,000 35,420
AR (HaEIv) 723,087,310 7,231
BITRBNRR D (H5Ev) 223,845,635 2,238
RZEZENF
+=-A=+—8 6.706,174,620 67,062

On 2 April 2008, the Company issued and allotted a total of
36,154,365 bonus shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company at par
to the existing shareholers on the basis of one bonus share for every
twenty existing shares held on 18 March 2008.

On 2 April 2008, the Company issued and allotted a total of
1,458,000,000 placing shares of HK$0.01 each.

On 2 April 2008, the Company issued and allotted a total of
3,542,000,000 subscription shares of HK$0.01 each.

iv)  On 25 April 2008, the Company issued a total of 723,087,310
rights shares of HK$0.01 each, for consideration of HK$0.01 per
share at par to the existing shareholders, on the basis of one rights
share for every existing share held on 18 March 2008.

v)  On 2 April 2008, the Company issued and allotted a total of

223,845,635 remuneration shares of HK$0.01 each in settlement of
part of the professional fees.

All the new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

Ha

) R-IZEZENFMA-B ARFRUR-ZE
NE=ZRTN\BEBEHE-+REERHESR
—RRAT IS 2 EE R EE AR A R R BT &AL
BERRMEE0.01E LA £36,154,365AF AT A%

i R-ZZZENEWMA-H AATETREE
SR MEE.01E LA £1,458,000,0000% Fig &
BeAp o

i)y RZZEZNFEOA-A KARAIETRAEEE
SRR MEE0.01E LA £3,542,000,0008% ;3 HE
f&f5 ©

V) RZZEZNFEFMA-+HEBA AATURZ
T N\F=ZA+\HEBHEF - RRERHE
E— R E A 2 B EIRAEE R IR A R
TEREBE0.018 TS $£723,087,3 10/ # %
5 RIEAESREE.OTET

v) RZZEZNFEOA-H KRQRAETREHE
SRRTE0.018 LA ££223,845,6358% B
B U AN EEER-

BN ES T HERAERNERRSEE -
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28. RESERVES 28. %
The Group rEE
Share  Convertible
Share  Translation Revaluation option bonds Accumulated Total
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses equity
TR
RORE  EXfE  ERRE BRERE ERRE  RHEE  BRAE
HKS 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
BEFr  EEfr EEFr EEFr EEFr BT BB
At 1 January 2007 RZEZ+5-A—H 61,597 17 29,700 - 3,888 (28,892) 66,410
Exchange differences arising on BERBIMLEREEE
tranglation of financial statements ~ REMELELZH
outside Hong Kong - 646 - - - - 646
Fair value adjustment on MHRES ATERE
convertible bonds - - - - 2,029 - 2,029
Deficit on revaluation of property, ~ EA%1%  BE R 2 B
plant and equipment - - (4.823) - - - (4,823)
Reversal of deferred tax liability on the  BEIA R EAR 2 EXHBERE
convertible bonds - - - - (427) - (427)
Deferred tax liability on revaluation of - E (&% « Bz RikfE 2
property, plant and equipment EREHEAR - - 3419 - - - 3419
Profit for the year FEREH - - - - - 182 182
At 31 December 2007 and RZBZLE+TZA=+-H
at 1 January 2008 ERZFZ\¥-A—-H 61,597 763 28,29 - 5,490 (28,710) 67,436
Exchange differences arising on BERB MR EBEHTE
tranglation of financial statements ~ REMELELZE
outside Hong Kong - 1,104 - - - - 1,104
Bonus issue BOAR (362) - - - - - (362)
Deficit on revaluation of property, ~ BfE9% BERREZH4H
plant and equipment - - (6,054) - - - (6,054)
Redemption on convertible bonds B A Rk (B - - - - (5,490) - (5,490)
Recognition of equity-settled share  BERZEREEURH T 2B
based payments - - - 12,809 - - 12,809
Deferred tax liability on revaluation of Ef%1% BERZEZ
property, plant and equipment EEREAE - - 1,397 - - - 1397
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (24,038) (24,038)
At 31 December 2008 RZEEN\E+ZA=+-H 61,235 1,867 23,639 12,809 - (52,748) 46,802

BENEEEAERAA | —EB/\FERK
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28. RESERVES (continued) 28. & (&)
The Company AT

Share  Convertible

Share option bonds Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
LE: 33
RiVEE BRERE ExRE ZHER X

HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
BETT BETT BETT EETT EETT

At 1 January 2007 RZEZ+F—H—H 61,597 - 3,888 (50,789) 14,696
Fair value adjustments ARREFZATERE
on convertible bonds - - 2,029 - 2,029
Reversal of deferred tax BEARES
Liability on convertible EXREAE
bonds - - (427) - (427)
Loss for the year FREE - - - (8,518) (8,518)
At 31 December 2007 and R -ZT+F
at 1 January 2008 +ZA=+—-8BRk
R-EENF—-HA—H 61,597 - 5,490 (59,307) 7,780
Bonus issue BT IR (362) - - - (362)
Redemption on BREARES
convertible bonds - - (5,490) - (5,490)
Recognition of equity- RIEEREE I
settled share based Rp 22 HE
payments - 12,809 - - 12,809
Loss for the year FREE - - - (24,984) (24,984)
At 31 December 2008 R-ZTTN\F
+-A=1+—H 61,235 12,809 - (84,291) (10,247)
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29. SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME 29. BRESTE

On 18 March 2008, the Company terminated share option
scheme adopted by the Company on 29 April 2002 and the
rules of the new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) be approved and adopted as the new share option
scheme. For further details of these, please refer to the circular
dated 29 February 2008.

The New Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for the
period of ten years commencing on the date on which it was
adopted. The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is
to provide incentives or rewards for contribution to eligible
participants who have made or may make to the Group or
any Invested Entity. Under the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, grant options to any
of the Participant. Participant means any Employees and any
Directors (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors) of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity. The total number of shares which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of all of the outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the New Share Option Scheme
of the Company must not be exceed 30% of the shares in
issue from time to time. The New Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for a period of ten years commencing the date
on which the scheme becomes unconditional.

M

R-—BENE=A+N\A AATKIEA
BT A=+ A BRA
| 77 AR A £ B ([T AR £
3573 81 L 4 3 4R 4 0 T O AR
—AHEELHANA ST E
Bz RS-

al |
nnk/tg}JH
[1 4

+

Bt

-

L

||M¥¥%Eﬁ%
W —
TN

B AR SIS N ER B HES TR
B -#HBREFEEZARARAE
RS RERMIEARST BEKAIEHE AL
B FTRE A RHEL RRNZ 2R
e RIFFBBAERT & 2655 EE G H
BREA2EERLBERE 2BERE
8 8 M AR BB QBRI
BRAZEMNES (BRENT FATRE
VIHITES) - RITEREARB ZHE
B BB R AR RTTR Z B E
mA FEITZRODBBRTFEBTHFEH
TTRD 2230% © 3 i A A 5T 81 BBk /= &
R fF B IR T F RS —EA -
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29. SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (continued) 29. BRESTE (&)

At 31 December 2008, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted under the New Share Option
Scheme was 402.36 million (2007: Nil), representing 6.0%
(2007: 0%) of the shares of the Company in issue. The total
number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of approval of the New Share Option Scheme, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted to any
individual in any-12 month period is not permitted to exceed
1% of the shares of the Company is issue at any point of time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
Options granted to a connected person (as such term defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company in excess of 0.1%
of the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of
HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

The subscription price will be determined by the Board and will
be the highest of (i) the quoted closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the Offer Date; (ii) the average of the closing prices
of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets on the five business days immediately
preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares of the Company. Any options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme shall end in any event not later than ten
years from the Grant Date. A nominal value of HK$10.00 is
payable on acceptance of each grant of options.

R-ZEZENFE+-_A=+—8 RBREFHER
BFTEIRL CBREMP R ZRNOEE A
402,360,000l (ZZZ+F &) (AR
AEBI1TIR%6.0% (ZETEF:0%) °
ARG AR B RRELIE  RIBFE
BEiERT &I AT RE IR 2 BE AR TS I 2 BR 17
BENEBIBAR R EFT ERERT 2
ERAZOETRDZ10%  HABMBAR
AR R S - MR+ @ B B A
BER T M AT Z ERERT S K& 2 BB
FEEFREAHIEBEARF DR ETRMNZ
1% - MR FARABEAL (TERAE
REMAA) 2 BIREBBARRRRARZ
0.1% k(BB AR BB E5,000,0007T « /A
NARRE BRI -

REEHRESTEET BAUTEEZ
Bea: (VEREBHBIMTERESX
FRAIA R RIS 2 TR T & : (i BEHER
REBHAEEXBEMIAMTARE
RIS A R BIRGD FHWTE : RGi)ARD
AR Gh 2 EE - RIBF R S ATE D
2 A ] BE AR A AR AT ZB A IR HH B HRRE A
THEAKLIE - BRNSHEHBRERS
A %10.00 2 KRB FIB ©
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NFEFZA=1F—HIFFE

29. SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (continued)

Details of the share options granted by the Company pursuant
to the New Share Option Scheme and the options outstanding

29. BRHERTE (&)

RIBFBRESSRD CBREINAR -F
ZENF+ A=+ —BHERITEZBERE

as at 31 December 2008 were as follows: ES-FONNE
Balance Balance
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
1 January during during during 31 December
Grantees Date granted 2008 the year the year the year 2008
RZZENE RZZENF
-A-8 +-ZA=1+-H
RRA RUAH 2R RERRE  REARTE  RERKN 28t
[ [ oo [ [
4 4 4 4 4
Tung Tai Yung (note ) 30 May 2008 - 67,060 - - 67,060
EXB(WH) —ZENE
AA=tH
Chung Man Wai (note ij) - 30 May 2008 - 67,060 - - 67,060
EXE (Miti) —ZE\F
fA=1H
Employee 30 May 2008 - 67,060 - - 67,060
B8 —ZE)\E
RA=1H
Consultants 30 May 2008 - 201,180 - - 201,180
By kY2
AA=tH
- 402,360 - - 402,360
Note: Wt -

) Mr. Tung Tai Yung resigned on 29 October 2008.

i) Mr. Chung Man Wai was appointed on 22 October 2008.

Period during with
the options are exercisable

BRETFTHEZER

30 May 2008 to 17 March 2017
“TT\FEASTEE
ZE—+F=AT+H

30 May 2008 to 17 March 2017
ZZZ/\FRA=THE
ZE—+E=ATtH

30 May 2008 to 17 March 2017
“$%/\FRA=1AZ
“E—+F=Rt++tH

30 May 2008 to 17 March 2017
“TT\FEASTEE
ZE—+F=AT+H

Exercise
price
per share

Bl
i@

HK$0.092
77%0.0927T

HK$0.092
A H0.0927

HK$0.092
7500927

HK$0.092
77%0.0927T

EXRBEERZZEENF+AZ+LBE

Fe

BYREER_ZFTENF+A-_T_AEZ

£
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29. SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (continued) 29. BRESTE (&)

During the year ended 31 December 2008, 402,360,000
options were granted on 30 May 2008. The estimated fair
value of the options granted is approximately HK$12,809,000.

These fair value were calculated by using the Black-Scholes
Option Pricing Model. The assumption of the model were as

follows:

Share price on grant date (HK$) 0.092
Exercise price (HK$) 0.092
Expected volatility 88.37%
Expected life 1 year
Risk-free rate 1.4%
Expected dividend yield 0%

The Group recognized the total expenses of approximately
HK$12,809,000 for the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007:
HK$NIl) in relation to share options granted by the Company.

REE-_ZETN\F+_A=1+—HBLEE
A 402,360,00017 BB IAER — T T\ FF
A=ZTBEL -REZEREZEAF
{47 %12,809,0007T °

ZERNFETERB N AR EE
BEAGFE - ZRAZBRROAT:

R B H 2 R(E (BK) 0.092
118 (BHK) 0.092
T8 HR R 08 88.37%
T8 5T 4F AP 14
R b A 1.4%
TE HARR B s 0%

HE-_ZEE)N\F+_RA=+—8HILtFE-
AEBERARNTE L 2 B ERERER
#975%12,809,0007T ( —ZEZF+F  BES
JL) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 30. HEKELQF
On 31 August 2008, the Group disposed a subsidiary, Aoptic R-ZZENFENA=Z+—HB AQAFHE
(BVI) Inc. The net assets of Aoptic (BVI) Inc. and its subsidiary bt /E A Bl AR B (BVINE R A & - A MY
at the date of disposal were as follows: BEBRVNVERAF RENBARREE B H
ZEBEFENRT:
As at
31-8-2008
R-ZZENF
NB=+—H
HK$'000
BT
NET ASSETS DISPOSED OF HEZEEFRE
Available-for-sale financial assets AEEZMBEEE 146
Other receivables H h e AR 3R 89,640
Bank balances RITE R 10
Other payables and accruals H e BR SR R FERT RUIE (189,054)
(99,258)
Gain on disposal &z 99,258
Total consideration BB -
Satisfied by: SRV
Cash Re -
Net cash outflow arising from disposal: HEMSZHEEREFHE
Cash consideration RERE -
Bank balances disposed HE ZIRITAERR (10)
(10)
The subsidiary contributed approximately HK$ 158,000 (2007: ZHBARIH_ZETENF-—H—BEHY
HK$845,000) of net loss for the period from 1 January 2008 to EAMBH I BRATE R FEEEN S
the effective date of disposal. 158,000 ( ZEF £ 4 : & %2845,000
JT) e

BENEEEAERAA | —EB/\FERK
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REMBERRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 _—FZE/N\F+_-H=+—HIFE

30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) 30.

The results of Aoptic (BVI) Inc. and its subsidiary for the period
from 1 January 2008 to 31 August 2008, which have been
included in the consolidated income statement, were as

follows:

Revenue Wz

Cost of sales & AR
Other revenue H iz
Administrative expenses T ER
Loss before tax Fr 1% Al BT 48
Income tax expense Fri5Hi & A
Loss for the period/year H/FANEE

During the period/year, Aoptic (BVI) Inc. and its subsidiary paid
approximately HK$188,000 (2007: HK$6,098,000) in respect
of the Group's net operating cash flows, paid approximately
HK$122,000 (2007: HK$799,000) in respect of investing
activities and contributed approximately HK$305,000 (2007:
HK$5,766,000) in respect of financing activities.
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ANF KX EBBVNER AR RENE QA B
—EENF-H—BE=ZEZENEN\A
=t+—AHAEHEAGEREK 2 EEN
T

1-1-2008 to 1-1-2007 to
31-8-2008 31-12-2007
H=-ZEN H-ZTT+
F—HA—RHZE F—A—H=
—EENF —EELF
NAB=+—H +=ZA=+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T
144 423
(104) (378)

15 32
(178) (922)
(123) (845)

(35) -
(158) (845)

B, F R KBEXEBV)ER A E) &EH B
NARAEELERSREFRIAFOE
#188,0007T (=T Z+F : 56,098,000
TT) BB FEB XA E 122,000
(ZZZ 4 : #¥799,0007T) ' T HRELE
S B & B 4978 #305,0007T ( — BB+ 4
75 #55,766,0007T ) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

31.

32.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had transactions and/or balances
with the directors and/or related parties, some of which are
also deemed to be connected persons pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules. The transactions during the year and balances
with them at the balance sheet, are as follows:

(@) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group.

During the year, there are three key personnel of the
Group being executive directors of the Group. Details of
remuneration and related benefits are disclosed in note 9.

(b) Details of the balances with related parties are set out in
the notes 19, 23 and 24.

LITIGATION

On 19 January 2004, a winding up petition was filed against
the Company by certain ex-senior employees of the Group
claiming for payment in the sum of HK$594,315 from the
Company in respect of an award/order dated 20 October 2003
granted by the Labour Tribunal in respect of the severance
and bonus dispute between the Company and the ex-senior
employees. The unsettled amounts of HK$594,315 not yet
paid up to 31 December 2008 were fully accrued in trade and
other payables at the year ended 31 December 2005.

31.

32.

FREALRS

AREFNGHREER HAEMEAL (R

%
4
u
)
N
Xt
S
=
%
5
-

FR AEBEE=RTEAE HYAK
SEZHTES - EHHMRAERE
M2 FBEERM W EE -

(b) BEARES ZAEHRFHBENHE9
23224 »

.

oy

£

—EENF—A+NB AEEETRER
BEREHEARRZERER HEE
BEHEN-_ZEZ=F+A=-1+HRARQF
HZEaARERZERE RIEAUD
B Z &R AL AR R B REL B
594315 HEZTEN\F+_A=+—
B ZERGEBSREBIESI,315TTERE
E-_TTERF+_A=+—HILEFEE2H
TAB S KEMBEMERRA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

33. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 33. KEHENZH
The Group as lessee AEEEREEA
At the balance sheet date, the Group has outstanding REE B - IREBETFIREEKEHLD  KEE
commitments under non-cancellable operating lease, which WARBITZHAOBEAENT

fall due as follows:

2008 2007

—EENF —ZTELF

HK$'000 HK$°000

BT BT T

Within one year —F A 341 -

In the second to fifth years inclusive FEERF

(BEEMFERFEEN) 91 -

432 -

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KREBKERNEERE THAEYEEN
Group for certain of its office premises. Lease is negotiated for ZHE - HAMKERERER—EMF -

fixed term of one to two years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

33.

34.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued) 33.

The Group as lessor

The Group rents out its club debenture under operating leases.
The leases are negotiated for a term of two years. The rental
income is HK$36,000 per year.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted with
lessee for the following future minimum lease payments:

Within one year —FR

In the second to fifth years inclusive FEERF
(BEEMFERFEEN)

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 34.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had no material capital
commitment.

REMORH (&)

FEBERSHEA
AEERBEEHOBELEGMES-H
MHKERREAMF - HERAREF

75 #36,0007T ©

REEE A AR E B SR AT T2 Rk
FEROASTT

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T VBT T
- 36

- 5

- 41

EARERE

REER AEBYEBRNERAE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

35.

36.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
an independent trustee. The Group contributes a certain
percentage of relevant payroll costs to the Scheme, which
contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is
required to contribute a certain percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
schemes is to make the specified contributions.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT

(a) Financial Risk Management

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks which
result from its operating and investing activities.

Management regularly manage the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure
and the current operation of the Group, no major
hedging activities are undertaken by management.

35.

36.

R AKE R 5T 8

AEESABERERERERLBESTE -
BIETA S 2 EETRNBILZFEAZES
ZEGHN BAKREEESRAFH -AKE
F I AR B LL Dl R 5 SR kR

BHZRBEF-

FEME AR ZEEHYESEATBEBT
IR ZRIAENE S - P EIB R AR RIE
B & 255 7E Lo O R AR M AT 81 K
ERENES AKEEBETEBNEE
BKEMNGE 2 - BT RREEREHR

=+
e

BEEREEREREREE

() MBEAERER

AEBFERELE MRE RS MERZ
TR B 755 e fga o

BEEETHEEANKE 2R -
R AR 2 B R RIRITEET
e WEEBY EETERYH
EEIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRKE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITALRISK 36. I EREERELARKBRERE (&)
MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Financial Risk Management (continued) (a) BIBEKRERE (£Z)
The most significant financial risks to which the Group is NEBEPrE R 2 & ERUBER A
exposed to are as follows: ™~
(i) Foreign exchange risk (i) SMEREER

The Group has adopted Reminbi as its main
functional currency and Hong Kong dollar as its
presentation currency, and is therefore exposed to
foreign exchange risk. However in view of the stable
currency policies adopted by the PRC government,
the directors consider that the foreign exchange risk
is insignificant.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange rate hedging policy in respect of
commercial transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. However, the directors monitor exchange
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
exchange rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

For a 5% weakening of Hong Kong dollars against
Renminbi or strengthen 5% against Renminbi,
the Group's loss for the year ended 31 December
2008 would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$317,000 (2007: HK$511,000).

BENBEBEERAR | —ZTN\EFFH WPY

AEEERMARERETED
REBELREEREZINEE
TE0 R S MNDEE [ B2 » AT - 4B R B IR
FArRM B EEBRER EF
RASMNERRIL TEAK -

AE BB EBIAINE BB
ZRIER B RAINEIE R LR
KoM EFRHERRABETE
B URRNEFTERZELYTE
K BEE =% Jei fga o

BEABELARE TR EFH
5% NEBBRE_ZEEN\E+
A=Z+—BLFEZEBB TR
J EFHA) 317,000 (ZEE
+ 4 B%511,0007T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITALRISK 36. I EREERELARBRERE (&)
MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Financial Risk Management (continued) (a) BIBEAKREE (£Z)
(i) Credit risk (i) EEEE

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in R_EZENF+_A=+—08"
the event that counterparties fail to perform their WX SEFRERBTEEE I
obligations at 31 December 2008 in relation to REBREZER D ERTEE
each class of recognized financial assets is the EmMEEzx=EERRTE#
carrying amounts of those assets as stated in the BENGEEERGBERMIIZER
consolidated balance sheet. The Group's credit risk Hef AEEzEERRBITE
is primarily attributable to its trade receivables and HREEKESEREWEA
amounts due from subsidiaries. In order to minimize BIERZRIBRE - RREREE
credit risk, management reviews the recoverable Rk ERETFHRTSERE
amount of each individual trade debt regularly SEEZARE ST UBRE
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are BLAS AT U [ (&5 18 1 3R 4R (B IS
recognized for irrecoverable debts. In this regard, Beoplt BERERRAEEZE
management considers that the Group's credit risk is ERk S RIERK-

significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the HRRSHFREERTFZR
counterparties are banks of good standing. T BRBES ZEERRBIR -
Trade receivables are within 180 days from the EWE ZEFNREBEERRE
date of billing. Debtors with balance that are more HAREET 180K - NIEE— 2 E
than 180 days past due are requested to settle all Z A EBABBEMAEE80
outstanding balances before any further credit is RAEZ &EkRe

granted.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has no REER AEEVESEREE
significant concentration of credit risk. & Ebg -
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITALRISK 36. I EREERELARKBRERE (&)
MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Financial Risk Management (continued) (a) BIBEKRERE (£Z)
(iii) Liquidity risk (iii) 7B & £ E

The Group will consistently implement a prudent RAEBERBERETEECRBE
liquidity risk management and ensure that it TRERERTVHERLERTMZ
maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents BeMASEEMUENER
to meet its liquidity requirements. Short- BeH R -MEEETBHESL
term borrowing has been arranged with non- FEHEF URRREEeH
financial institution in order to fund the liquidity Ko EREERMERZE AL #
requirements. The management monitors the RETFIEERA -

utilization of borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile THERBMAREER-_ZZENF R
of the Group's financial liabilities at 31 December —EELF+_A=+—HRE
2008 and 2007 based on contractual undiscounted AR R BB ESIEIE
payments. e
Less than Between Between Over
1 year 11to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years Total
SPR-F -FEWME REZRE RENE 8%
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

ERTT ERTT EBTT BETT ERTT

2008 “BENF

Trade and other [ CPPEN LT

payables 18,492 - - - 18,492
Borrowing EE 248 12,503 - - 12,751
Duetoadrector ~ RE—BEZHE 3,936 - - - 3,936
Due to a related R —-HBERFTE

company 4,457 - - - 4,457

27,133 12,503 - - 39,636
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITALRISK 36. I EREERELARBRERE (&)
MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Financial Risk Management (continued) (a) MKEKRER (&)
(iii) Liquidity risk (continued) (iii) ZEELELRE (&)
Less than Between Between Qver
1 year 1 to 2 years 210 5 years 5 years Total
PR—F  —FERF WEERE AFNE ek
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000

BT BT AT EETT BETT

2007 —EELE

Trade and other ~ EWE F I

payables HiER 21,324 - - - 21,324
Borrowing E3= 1,723 - - - 1,723
Duetoadirector RI—ZEZHE 3,295 - - - 3,295

26,342 - - - 26,342

(iv) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risk (iv) XA FERELHEFFERE

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value NFEMNERRAMETAEE
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 7% B FE T 35 ) 3R B 8 T R B 2 [
changes in market interest rates. Cash flow interest fr-REmEMNERRRBITBT
rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of B2 RRB & E R EERS A
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of EEEMKEE B BRFTA
changes in market interest rates. The Group's T AREAE N EEIZE
exposure to fair value and cash flow interest risks BYIRR - MEMISMNEL|EKR
is minimal as all financial instruments are carried BE) MAKEEAZ 2 AFER
at amounts not materially different from their fair ReEMNEMNERABILFEK -

values and the fluctuation of market interest rates is
insignificant.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2_—ZFZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Capital Risk Management

The Group’s objective when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net
debt is calculated as total liabilities (including current
and non-current liabilities as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total
equity represents the equity as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet.

BENBEEBERAE | —TEN\FEH WPS
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(b) EXERER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITALRISK 36. I EREERELARBRERE (&)
MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Capital Risk Management (continued) (b) BEXERER (£)
The gearing ratios at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as RZZEZENFR_ZFZTLF+A
follows: =t+—RAZEEBGBLENT:
2008 2007
—EENEF e
HK$'000 HK$°000
B FT BT T
Total liabilities BERE 52,824 64,440
Less: Cash and cash equivalents R RIREEED
(Note 20) (Kt&t20) (26,298) (37)
Net debt (EUrE 26,526 64,403
Total equity R 113,906 74,667
Gearing ratio BEBBELE 23% 86%
The decrease in gearing ratio during 2008 resulted EEBGBEER_ZEZTNFRNTHEE
primarily from the share issue and redemption of ERROHBITRELTBRRESA
convertible bonds. B
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets

Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)

— Held for trading

— Designated as at FVTPL

Derivate instruments in designated
hedge accounting relationships

Held-to-maturity investments

Loans and receivables (including cash and

cash equivalents)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Financial liabilities

Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

— Held for trading

— Designated as at FVTPL

Derivate instruments in designated
hedge accounting relationships

Amortized cost

Financial guarantee contracts

37. B TH

B TAE>IER

MBEE

FHRAFEGFAERR
(BBRAFEFAER)

—FEEE

—EBEABBAFETABZE

BRI PSR
PTETA

BRI E

B IR R
(BEBESRBESEED)

AEHEMEEE

MEEE

BB EFARR
(GEBATE AERE)

—FEEE

—HBERBBAFE AEE

HEFE PR BERZ
fTETA

B S PRR

MBHERE K

2008
—2ENE
HK$°000
AETT

55,661
2,937

2007
—ETLF
HK$'000
BT T

28,142
146

39,285
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mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

38. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 38. £EHRBREHE

On 9 January 2009, the Group entered into a Sale and
Purchase Agreement to acquire 10% of issued share
capital of Info-Source Media Limited at a consideration of
HK$28,800,000. The acquisition was completed on 3 February
2009 and the consideration was satisfied in full by the
allotment and issue of 360,000,000 Consideration Shares at
the Issue Price of HK$0.08 per share.

On 16 February 2009, the Group entered into a loan
agreement to advance a facilities of HK$9,000,000 to a related
company.

On 29 February 2009, the Company proposed to change
the name of the Company from “Intcera High Tech Group
Limited” to “China Post E-Commerce (Holdings) Limited”. The
Company also proposed to adopt “HFEEE (1Li%) BR A
A]" to replace " KPS %= BHE & B B PR A 7" as the Chinese
name of the Company for the purpose of identification only
upon the change of name becoming effective.

RZZEENF—ANB AEEVEE
e WEEREEERAFI0%E BT
B A 48R (B & 5 %528,800,0007T © Y2 B8
EERN-_EENE_A=A%K MKE
TR A BT EZ R ’E0.08 i 3 K 31T
360,000,000 (X AB A& {7 2 77 BB T o

R-EBEENF_A+B AEEFUE
RAEH B —REE A 775 %9,000,000
TCZRE °

R-ZZENEFE-_A-+HhB AREIES
#4278 A [Intcera High Tech Group
Limited | 24 [China Post E-Commerce
(Holdings) Limited ] ° A &) TN 7 B 2K
ZRBERERA[HHEZ (ZR)BRA
Al UAREB [ REBEREEBRBR AT
RBARRZHAXEBAEHRBRZA -
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Company

AHE

Optical Crystal (BVI) Limited

Opcom Holdings (BVI) Limited

Intcera High Tech (BVI) Limited

Noble Might Limited

Place of
Incorporation/
operation
AMRLLE
EEBE

British Virgin Islands
("BVI")

HERAEE
(RBERES])

BVI
RERIES

BVI
RERIES

BVI
RERIES

Issue and
paid up
capital
BERITR
frBRE

Us$1,000

1,000%7T

Us$1,000

1,000% 7T

Us$100
1003 7T

Us$1
[E

39. TEMBRR Z2F1E

Attributable
percentage of Class of
shares held shares held
EEEREDL BRER
Directly Indirectly
BHiE &
100 - Ordinary
3l
100 - Ordinary
gl
100 - Ordinary
gl
100 - Ordinary
TRk
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Principal activity

TRER

Investment holding

REZR

Investment holding

BARR

Investment holding

BARR

Investment holding

REER

129



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—FZE/N\F+=-H=+—HIFE

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. TEMBE LB 2B (&)
(continued)
Place of Issue and Attributable
Incorporation/ paid up percentage of Class of
Company operation capital shares held shares held Principal activity
EMB LR EBRITR
DHE EEBE HRBRAE BEFREDL BRER TEXEK
Directly Indirectly
E# i
Great Route Limited (note) Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Ordinary Investment holding
BRABRRAR (M) 5 1007 LTk REER
Intcera High Tech (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Ordinary Investment holding
RIBEmRE (F8) kG BE 1007 =Rl and provision of
BRARA management services
in Hong Kong
REBETRE
PERR T R4
EERS
Rich Palace Limited BVI Us$1 - 100 Ordinary Investment holding
RERLES 1% gl REER
Top Cheer Capital Investment Hong Kong HK$500,000 - 50 Ordinary Trading
Limited i ##500,0007T il BEXY

BRABEERAF

Note: Biit -

Great Route Limited was dissolved by deregistration on 27 February 2009. BEEBRAFER-ZZEZNF AT LHER
JH AT AR AR o

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at BRI B8 2 I F R s T RHR B A

the end of the year or at any time during the year. R RE 77 o
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40.

41.

42,

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group incurred share option expenses
of approximately HK$12,809,000, and settled accrued
professional fees of approximately HK$2,238,000 by the issue
of 223,845,635 Remuneration Shares.

In addition, promissory notes of HK$12,400,000 was issued
for redemption of convertible bonds during the year.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been restated to conform
with current year’s presentation.

APPROVAL OF ACCOUNTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorized for issue by the board of directors on 24 March
20009.

40.

41.

42,

TEHFBRERS

RER AEBELERERIHBEL
12,809,0007T ' 1 & i ¥ 17223,845,635/%
HER D 2 ANEEZ BT EEERLE
#2,238,0007T ©

BN FRD BT E12,400,0007T 2 A,
Zig DER A B ES -

EeE B F

ETHBBTROBIUHNAEFE LS
e

AR B HE A&

EXZgCRN _TTNF=A - +HBHE
NIRRT E ARG E @R -
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBERBE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 _—FZE/\F+=-H=+—HIFE

The summarised consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the T X&EH I AEBERBER BT BFE 2458 %
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited 4 - BEENMBEME - HiEtkE AEE 2 KB
consolidated financial statements of the Group, were set out %34 B ASHRE

below:
RESULTS 4
Year ended 31 December
BEE+t-R=+—-HLEE
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
ZEENE —TT+F —TTXF —TTHFE —ZTWEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000
BETT BT T EETFT BB BT T
Turnover mEm 78,644 52,612 30,685 711 7,076
Operating (loss) profits R (BE) &N
from operation (21,142) 7,034 9,203 (14,143) (15,542)
Finance costs BEKAE (853) (1,814) (1,750) (1,532) (548)
(Loss) profit before tax BRECAT (18 ) % A (21,995) 5,220 7,453 (15,675) (16,090)
Income tax expense FTiSHEHR (2,251) (5,038) (1,972) - -
(Loss) profit attributable to PR R A (518 ) SR F
shareholders (24,246) 182 5,481 (15,675) (16,090)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
R+=ZA=+-8
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
“EENE —TTL+F —TEXFE —TTHFE _—ZTWEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
BETT BT BB EETT EETT
Non-current assets FREBEE 88,219 91,905 96,709 65,675 61,495
Current assets TEEE 78,511 47,202 29,952 27,355 34,234
Total assets BEBE 166,730 139,107 126,661 93,030 95,729
Current liabilities REEE 36,863 33,645 18,453 15,087 18,198
Non-current liabilities FrRBasE 15,961 30,795 34,567 28,520 27,400
Total liabilities BERE 52,824 64,440 53,020 43,607 45,598
Net assets BEESFSR 113,906 74,667 73,641 49,423 50,131
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